
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD
	FILE NO.:
	EB-2024-0200
	Enbridge Gas Inc.

	VOLUME:

DATE:
	Technical Conference
October 31, 2024
	


EB-2024-0200
THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD
Enbridge Gas Inc.

Leave to construct natural gas pipelines
in the City of Ottawa

St. Laurent Replacement Project
Technical Conference held virtually from 2300 Yonge Street, 25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, on Thursday, October 31, 2024, commencing at 9:33 a.m.

----------------------------------------

TECHNICAL CONFERENCE
----------------------------------------

JAMES SIDLOFSKY
Board Counsel

ZORA CRNOJACKI
Board Staff

MICHAEL PARKES

NATALYA PLUMMER

ANTONIO JOHNSON

ARLEN STERNBERG 
Enbridge Gas Inc. (EGI)

CHARLES KEIZER
MICHAEL BROPHY
Community Association for

Environmental Sustainability (CAFES) (CAFE Ottawa) / Pollution Probe

TOM LADANYI
Energy Probe Research Foundation

KENT ELSON
Environmental Defence (ED)

DWAYNE QUINN
Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario (FRPO)
ANDREW BISHOP
Independent Electricity System Operator (IESO)
MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

1--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


1ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed


M. Chebaro, M. Safari, B. Clark, A. Murdoch,

J. Murphy, C. Wood, K. Black
1Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


26Examination by Mr. Brophy


50--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.


50--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.


88--- Recess taken at 12:36 p.m.


88--- On resuming at 1:32 p.m.


129--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m..


129--- On resuming at 3:23 p.m.


129Examination by Ms. Crnojacki


167--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 4:49 p.m.




NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.
5UNDERTAKING JT2.1: TO PROVIDE INFLATION AND ESCALATION PARAMETERS USED FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE AMP


7UNDERTAKING JT2.2:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NPV FIGURES IN TABULAR FORM


10UNDERTAKING JT2.3:  TO FILE AND EXPLAIN THE DOCUMENT ENB-22STLAU


13UNDERTAKING JT2.4:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE ENBRIDGE STANDARD OPERATIONAL RISK ASSESSMENT MATRIX, INCLUDING ANY INTERNAL GUIDES OR REFERENCE DOCUMENT


18UNDERTAKING JT2.5:  TO FILE THE SLABBING STUDY AND THE DIG-DIFFICULTY STUDY.


21UNDERTAKING JT2.6:  TO CONFIRM PAYMENT DATES RELATED TO CONTRACT CANCELLATIONS; TO ADVISE AMOUNTS OF LEASE-BREAKING COSTS


23UNDERTAKING JT2.7:  TO DESCRIBE ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF COUSTS REFERRED TO IN JT2.6


24UNDERTAKING JT2.8:  TO ITEMIZE AND QUANTIFY, AS IS POSSIBLE, COSTS IN THE BUDGET IN THIS APPLICATION THAT WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN THERE IF YOU HAD GONE FORWARD WITH THE PROPOSAL IN THIS APPLICATION, AS OPPOSED TO THE 0293 PROPOSAL AND APPLICATION.


25UNDERTAKING JT2.9:  TO REVIEW AND CLARIFY THE RESPONSE TO IR 1.3-SEC-15


25UNDERTAKING JT2.10:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE IF THE COMPANY EXPECTES TO QUALIFY FOR ICM FUNDING AND PLANS TO BRING FORWARD A REQUEST.


27UNDERTAKING JT2.11:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN OTTAWA ADDED BY YEAR SINCE JANUARY 2020 THAT WOULD BY SERVED OFF THE CURRENT ST. LAURENT PIPELINE


32UNDERTAKING JT2.12:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL RE ET ADJUSTMENTS BY CUSTOMER SEGMENT, RESIDENTIAL VERSUS COMMERCIAL-INDUSTRIAL


41UNDERTAKING JT2.13:  TO CONSIDER FURTHER THE REQUEST FOR COMMUNICATION MATERIALS AND PROVIDE, AND IF NOT, TO ADVISE.


55UNDERTAKING JT2.14: TO CONSIDER THE QUESTION OF HOW MANY KILOMETRES OF PIPELINE ARE 60 YEARS OR OLDER, AND IF POSSBLE, TO RESPOND; OTHERWISE TO ADVISE WHY


58UNDERTAKING JT2.15:  TO HAVE THE APPROPRIATE WITNESS LISTEN TO THAT PART OF THE INTERVIEW, AND IF THEY HAVE FURTHER COMMENT OR RESPONSE THEY CAN PROVIDE IN RESPONSE TO YOUR QUESTION THEY WILL.


61UNDERTAKING JT2.16:  TO REVIEW THE DOCUMENT AND ADVISE WHICH LINE ENTRIES RELATE TO DISCUSSIONS OR DOCUMENTS WITH COUNCILLOR TIERNEY; IF THERE ARE ANY ADDITIONAL DISCUSSIONS OR MEETINGS WITH COUNCILLOR TIERNEY THAT OCCURRED THAT AREN'T REFLECTED HERE, TO INDICATE THAT AS PART OF THE RESPONSE.


64UNDERTAKING JT2.17:  TO REVIEW IF EGI'S APPROVED STAKEHOLDER PLAN WILL BE FILED


83UNDERTAKING JT2.18:  TO CONFIRM THE NUMBER OF SERVICES OR RECONNECTS WOULD BE INVOLVED IN THE XHP PIPELINE


95UNDERTAKING JT2.19:  TO LOOK FOR ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS THAT HAVEN'T BEEN PRODUCED, AND FILE IF POSSIBLE; IF OTHERWISE, TO CONFIRM.


103UNDERTAKING JT2.20:  TO PROVIDE THE LIVE VERSION OF EXCEL FORMULAS RELATED TO THE PRESENT VALUE CALCULATIONS


112UNDERTAKING JT2.21:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 2027 CAPITAL INCURRED COSTS


117UNDERTAKING JT2.22:  TO CONFIRM DNV PROPOSAL WAS ATTACHED TO CONTRACT PROVIDED IN POLLUTION PROBE-24, ATTACHMENT 4


133UNDERTAKING JT2.24:  TO REPORT IF IT HAD REQUESTED A TSSA ASSESSMENT OF FITNESS FOR SERVICE FOR OTHER INTEGRITY MANAGEMENT PROJECTS





Thursday, October 31, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  Once again, my names is James Sidlofsky.  I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in today's proceeding, and today is day 2 of the virtual technical conference on the Enbridge Gas Inc. application for an order granting leave to construct approximately 17.6 kilometres of natural gas pipeline and associated facilities along St. Laurent Boulevard, and Sandridge Road, and Tremblay Road in the City of Ottawa.

We have scheduled questions today from School Energy Coalition, CAFES Ottawa, and Pollution Probe, as well as OEB Staff.  Let's go right into it with Mr. Rubenstein.  I understand there are no preliminary matters, so feel free to start.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Mohamed Chebaro
Miaad Safari
Bradley Clark
Aron Murdoch
Jennifer Murphy
Cody Wood
Kendra Black

Examination by Mr. Rubenstein


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I just would like to start off with some follow-up questions from yesterday.  As I was reviewing the transcript and when I was available yesterday, as I understand, there were some questions from Environmental Defence with respect to the next version of the asset management plan, and there was some back and forth, and then, as I understand, in the afternoon, Mr. Keizer, after consulting the company, reported that the latest Enbridge asset management plan that is currently in draft is expecting to be filed by the end of next week.  Did I hear that correctly, or did I read that correctly?

MR. STERNBERG:  That is my understanding of the timing based on what Mr. Keizer indicated on the record yesterday.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I just want to be clear.  When you are talking about filing it, do you mean in this proceeding or in a different proceeding?

MR. STERNBERG:  Not in this; not in this proceeding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask that you undertake to file that AMP in this proceeding, considering that the undertaking date is subsequent to next Friday, when you will have a final?

MR. STERNBERG:  We are not prepared to do that.  Our position is that the asset management plan is not relevant to this application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, the company's view is that the asset management plan which sets out not just individual projects but its entire planning theory and methodology is not relevant to an individual project, a Leave to Construct project?

MR. STERNBERG:  The position is that that extensive overall plan is not about and it is not relevant to this Leave to Construct application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does the AMP contain this project?

MR. STERNBERG:  I am giving you my understanding of it, but it is not...

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, it doesn't contain --


MR. STERNBERG:  I am not in a position to answer further.  I have given you my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, maybe --


MR. STERNBERG:  It is not --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- the panel is --


MR. STERNBERG:  -- relevant, so --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- aware --


MR. STERNBERG:  -- I can't answer questions about exactly what is in --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can the Panel answer --


MR. STERNBERG:  -- [audio dropout]


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- my question?  I understand you can't.

MR. STERNBERG:  No, I think we --


MR. KITCHEN:  It is Mark Kitchen from Enbridge.  The asset management plan which is being filed on Friday is essentially just a compliance filing to be filed on its own, and it does include the St. Laurent project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And it is the company's view that that has no relevance in this proceeding?

MR. KITCHEN:  Given that at this point we are not asking for ICM recovery of any kind and, strictly speaking, the Leave to Construct, as far as I can tell, is to deal with this project alone, the asset plan, itself, really doesn't have any relevance on what the Board is looking at here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In my understanding from past asset management plans from the company, previous versions that we have seen, they obviously detail very specific projects and programs and all the like, but it also includes a very significant component explaining how you determine projects, how you prioritize projects, and that, and you are saying that is also not relevant?

MR. KITCHEN:  [Audio dropout]  I am sorry.  I am not used to having a mic that I have to hold.  At this point, I would say that it is not relevant to what the Board has needs to determine in this proceeding.  We put forward evidence on the need for the St. Laurent project.  That is -- how we prioritize projects or such doesn't really have anything to do with what we are asking the Board at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand, part of the genesis of the questioning with respect to -- Mr. Elson was asking about the inflation escalation parameters included in the draft AMP or in the AMP as compared to what was filed in Staff-17, and since that -- are you able to undertake to at least provide the inflation and escalation parameters that you are utilizing for the purposes of the AMP?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Rubenstein --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, can we get an undertaking for that, then, a number for that?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  That will be Undertaking JT2.1.
UNDERTAKING JT2.1: TO PROVIDE INFLATION AND ESCALATION PARAMETERS USED FOR THE PURPOSES OF THE AMP


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Rubenstein, if I can just add very quickly, I think Enbridge confirmed that the St. Laurent project is in the AMP that will be filed next Friday.  That project is directly in this proceeding.  The AMP, I am assuming, includes the most recent information related to that project, and, therefore, Pollution Probe requests that it be filed in this proceeding, as well.  In our view, it is fully relevant and, unless there is a material reason to not file it, it boggles my mind why it wouldn't be filed.

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, there won't be any -- like, what you have got in front of you for this application is the most up to date.  There won't be anything else, I don't believe.  When we file it on Friday, parties can look at it, and then they can ask us to file it if they think it is relevant.

MR. BROPHY:  Is there a reason why you wouldn't file it in this proceeding?  Is there something in it that is --


MR. KITCHEN:  We have already -- I think I have already said that, Mike.  I don't think that it is relevant to what the Board has to determine in this proceeding around the need and the alternatives for the St. Laurent facilities.  The Board may have a different view of that, and, if they do, that is fine.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So, just to be clear -- and I don't want to actually spend anymore time on this.  Just so the record is clear, you are refusing to provide the updated AMP as an undertaking?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  Can I ask you, yesterday you gave undertakings to Mr. Elson, JT1.12 and 1.13, and they were undertakings -- in JT1.12, it was an undertaking to provide most recent updated probabilistic NPV versus the asset life horizon shown in 1-SEC-2, attachment 2, page 8.  Then, you agreed in JT1.3 to provide a revised version based on a 2 percent cost-escalation scenario.

Can I as either a separate undertaking or as part of that undertaking you provide not just the updated figures but in a tabular form the results?  So, for example, we would see the actual NPV for a given asset life and the upper and lower bound for essentially numbers for each of the years.  Is that something you can do?

MR. STERNBERG:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, that undertaking was given in a qualified way, to take it back and see what was reasonably doable.  So we can add that request to it, but we are not in a position to unequivocally at this point say yes to it.  But we will take that back and consider it along with the other request from yesterday.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, and I don't know if you want to mark that as a separate undertaking or just include it in the relevant JT-1.12 and 1.13.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Sternberg, do you have a strong view either way?  I think I would prefer to mark it as a new undertaking, but do you have a thought?

MR. STERNBERG:  No, it is fine with us either way, whatever is easiest.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It may just be easier to keep track of it that way, so we will make that JT2.2.
UNDERTAKING JT2.2:  TO PROVIDE UPDATED NPV FIGURES IN TABULAR FORM


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn now to 1-Pollution Probe-24, attachment 5.  I think you have -- sorry, it is 1-Pollution Probe-24, attachment 5.  So, as I understand, this is actually the report that, the full report that, DNV (ph) provided with respect to its St. Laurent pipeline risk review.  Do I have that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to page 9 of that document?  And so, here they provide a list of the documents that they reviewed to come to the conclusion.  And I just want to understand what some of these documents are, because the way they are written it is at least not clear to me what they actually looked at.  Can you explain what the DIMP risk algorithm document is, just briefly?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, we have a quantitative risk model that is employed across all distribution assets, it was developed in 2020.  The DIMP risk algorithm document describes essentially the methods and models used within that broader calculation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that on the record?

MR. SAFARI:  That's not on the record as the -- that assessment methodology is used across the had entire distribution network and the data that is available across the distribution network.  It is based in many cases on susceptibility factors.  The QRA that is provided in evidence, which we have used to make decisions, uses different models and approaches because we have much more specific data on this pipeline.  So, the methods used are aligned with the data that we have available.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, why did you provide this -- I am not sure if you provided it or they asked for it.  What was the relevance of them reviewing that document?

MR. SAFARI:  Specifically in this case we sent them the third party damage, probability of damage models.  So, that specific component of the broader distribution risk model is similar to what is described in the QRA.  The QRA does reference that document.  There is an extensive reference list at the end of the QRA document and one of them is the probability damage model said that were used in the calculations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. SAFARI:  So, this just simply provided more detail on the probability of damage models.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  And then the second document is ENB-22STLLAU and then it goes on.  What is that document?

MR. SAFARI:  I unable to discern from that file name what that document entails, but I think we can provide you an answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, let's hold on.  Because maybe there may be another document that we get to.  We will just pause on that.  Then if you follow down you have S1, S2, S3, S5, S6, MFL -- I mean, I am assuming this is segments of the pipeline.  There is some document.  What are those reports specifically?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, that is correct.  So, the pipeline was inspected, as you know, with crawler MFL technology and that was done by essentially sampling various parts of the system.  There were six inspections completed and each of these documents refer to the reports that we received back from the in-line inspection vendor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then what is the -- well, I think I have a sense of what it is.  The St. Laurent integrity actions report by the distribution integrity management program; what is that report specifically?

MR. SAFARI:  The integrity actions report I believe is filed in attachment 1 of, subject to check, PP-6.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  If that is the case then I can look at it myself.  Okay, I guess -- the last document is the TIMP risk algorithm doc manufacturing.  Is that -- can I take it that the TIMP is the transmission integrity management program risk assessment; but what specifically about the manufacturing component?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, similarly to the third party damage, the first description I gave, there is parts of the transmission system risk assessment that were used in the QRA.  They are described again in the QRA in quite a bit of detail but the full methodologies are explained in the risk assessment, the RA document.  So, we provided them the excerpt of the RA document that provides the, you know, full details of the derivation and approaches used to assess the manufacturing threat.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  So, can I ask you to undertake to explain what ENB-22STLAU document is?  And I would actually ask you, just because of where we are in the process, if you can provide a copy of it?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT2.3.
UNDERTAKING JT2.3:  TO FILE AND EXPLAIN THE DOCUMENT ENB-22STLAU

MR. QUINN:  Mark, before you leave that page, can we also ask for it the St. Laurent integrity actions report by distribution integrity management program?  While the AMP is not -- Enbridge is not willing to file the AMP at this point, this distribution integrity management report may have some detail that will be helpful information.  I missed this opportunity, so I would ask that Enbridge undertake to file that document also.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct you said it actually is on the record; did I hear that correctly?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  The action report is filed in attachment 1 exhibit I.1, PP 6.

MR. QUINN:  PP 6, okay thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Can I now -- in a number of the interrogatories and obviously the evidence there is a lot of discussion about the condition of the pipeline compared to the reliability thresholds in annex O to standard Z662 as it relates to LLS and ULS leaks.  And as I understand from the evidence annex O applies to transmission pipelines; correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Annex O is provided in the standard.  It is generally intended for use for transmission pipelines, but the classification of distribution and transmission pipelines is typically provided by -- it is not explicit in the standard.  It is typically provided by the regulators.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand your evidence, and I don't recall the reference, but this pipeline meet those requirements?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari can, you clarify which requirements you are referring to?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry.  The definition -- I am just based on your response I don't remember exactly where I saw this.  But my understanding was at least some standard that defines transmission versus distribution pipeline, the St. Laurent project would meet the definition of transmission for the purposes of the standard.  I don't mean as a regulatory definition or use definition.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  The St. Laurent operates at a SMIS percent that is between 20 and 30 SMIS.  In Ontario that is defined as distribution piping.  However, as I mentioned to I believe Mr. Quinn yesterday, the annex O was derived based on a population of assets that included pipelines that are in that category, which is 20 to 30 percent SMIS, and there are no distribution targets, reliability targets, for distribution piping in Canada.  So, in the absence of that that is the only available recognized industry annex or standard that we could use for that purpose.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Can I just add one thing to that, just in relation to the distribution versus transmission discussion.  So, the models that we are applying and using to assess the risk, they are assessing the risks based on the pressures and stresses that the pipeline is operated, not based on broad categorizations of distribution or transmission.  For example, if this pipeline was operating in the U.S. based on the U.S. classifications it would have been transmission.  That does not affect the risk level of the pipeline itself.  It is merely just the classification used to help guide regulations.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Does Enbridge apply annex O to other distribution pipelines?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Annex O is applied in our transmission integrity management program and, with the event program that has been launched in 2024, the intent is whenever a QRA is conducted that the QRA results would be benchmarked to existing industry acceptable targets.  And, you know, without speculating here but annex O would be given strong consideration for that purpose.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, I take it, then, that this is the first distribution pipeline that you have applied annex O to, at least to date?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  As far as I am aware, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Can I ask you  to go to 1-SEC-4.  So we asked you in part E to provide a complete external copy of the Enbridge standard operational risk assessment matrix, including any internal guides or reference documents.  And if you scroll down, you point us to 1.STAFF-10D.  And if we go to 1-STAFF-10D?

Now the question itself from Staff asks some, you know, a related question.  And then, in the response, I mean, it is asking about it in some sense, but that is a different question.

And then in the response, you explain it; you provide some explanation.  But you didn't actually answer the question that we had requested.

Can you provide a copy of the Enbridge standard operational risk assessment matrix, including any internal guides or reference document?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, we can do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you, very much.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT2.4.
UNDERTAKING JT2.4:  TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THE ENBRIDGE STANDARD OPERATIONAL RISK ASSESSMENT MATRIX, INCLUDING ANY INTERNAL GUIDES OR REFERENCE DOCUMENT

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go now to 1.2-STAFF-17, attachment 4?  And so obviously, there was a lot of discussion about this yesterday.  And if you scroll to the second page, I believe, or you start -- you provide the detailed assessment -- you provide a detailed in-costing, with respect to the alternative.

And I know there is a obviously a narrative provided in C1.1, page 4, as well as in some other places in the interrogatories and the evidence.  But when I looked at the detailed cost data, that you have broken it down into years, when you would have to do the work and, you know -- and there was some discussion about how you built up those costing.

And then upon going back and reviewing the underlying pre-filed evidence, it would seem to me that the company must have done at least some sort of -- maybe you can help me understand how you got to -- how, internally, the company got to the alternative?

So for example, what is behind this?  Ultimately, was a full workup done for, sort of, a mock project plan, if you were going to use this alternative, when the work would be done?

Because you see some narrative in the prefiled evidence and then you see the sort of detailed costing estimates or assumptions.  And I am just trying to understand how exactly internally the process worked.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  So, in the C1.1 evidence, we tried to walk through the processes used.  Specifically, the process of alternatives started with looking at all suitable or proposed ways that risk can be mitigated.  And then we went through a feasibility assessment.  And that narrowed down the alternatives to four that were -- the four alternatives were, you know, flushed out as -- quite a bit, but still left some uncertainty in terms of their feasibility.

Once we had a better understanding of those four, and wanted to really refine the assessment of the two main leading alternatives, which was full replacement on the replace side, and the extensive inspection and repair, those two were further refined quite extensively.  I don't think we have ever done this level of extensive investigation for an alternative assessment, including a feasibility assessment from a risk standpoint, looking at the feasibility from a constructability standpoint.

So yesterday, I talked a little bit about the dig-difficulty studies, as well as the slabbing feasibility studies that were completed.  So that created quite a refined plan.

The estimates provided here are obviously still classified or, sorry, higher level estimates, I would say, mainly because in a lot of cases the options are not -- they cannot be any further vetted.  There is obviously some uncertainty into planning out a work plan for decades.  Right?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Sorry, I used the term detailed estimate, there.  I made that in comparison to the sort of single number that you saw in the evidence.

So is there a document that -- or a -- I am trying to put it exactly:  Is there something where essentially somebody put together, "This is exactly in detail what the extensive inspection and repair option looks like"?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  From what perspective?  From the amount of work required?  Or the residual risks, or the uncertainties?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Maybe all of it.  I guess for me, for my -- what exactly -- if we were going to do this, if the company was going to go forward with this type of option, what exactly -- you know, because here, you have very -- you know, you are saying we are going to do the following work in the following different years, and we are going to need to spend some capital in this, you know, in 2045, and not the same sort of work necessarily in 2035.

It seems to me someone has to put something together that sort of maps out what this option looks like in more detail than the narrative that sits in the evidence, to then get you to the, "Okay, here then, we are going to do the cost estimates for it all."

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer for a second with my panellists.

Miaad Safari.  So yesterday, I referenced C1.1, table 2, which provides the summary of the work requirements that are required in the two alternatives.  And then the table here provides the very detailed layout of the amount of work that is necessary, as well as the, you know, cost details assumptions that went into those estimates.

And then we also, in the C1.1 evidence, provide details of the residual risks that are associated with -- after the mitigation of these scenarios.  I believe we in C1.1, attachment 1, we provide details of the residual risk calculations that were completed.

I am not really sure.  So, to answer your question, I believe it is in evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so, but I -- but the prefiled evidence as you have mentioned is a sort of a summary of something.  Right?  Of some -- and my question is did someone work up internally, when you are coming -- when you're -- with respect to this alternative, right?  Did someone work up internally, would -- and there is some document that says "Okay, we are going to do this.  It is going to look like this.  This is what we would have to do, this is what it would look like," essentially a simplified project plan compared to, obviously, the full replacement option.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I believe what Mr. Safari is saying is that that project plan has been incorporated in the relevant sections of the evidence, based on risk, financial, et cetera.  So we have not filed a specific document for that alternative.  But all the components I think you were referring to are present in various sections of the evidence.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah.  My question, does a document exist?  I know you have filed it and you have done the evidence in different ways, and there is no problem.  There is nothing wrong with that, that is fine.  But does a document actually exist that is somewhere on the line of -- that I am contemplating?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  There is no other document that describes the work plan.  The evidence is where we have described the work that is required.  The only other items that are not on evidence are the slabbing feasibility study and the dig-difficulty study that was completed to help inform the type of work that needed to be carried out and the costs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide those two documents?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, we can provide those.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thanks.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be Undertaking JT2.5.
UNDERTAKING JT2.5:  TO FILE THE SLABBING STUDY AND THE DIG-DIFFICULTY STUDY.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can we go to 1.3-SEC-14?  So, in this interrogatory, we had asked you about the costs of the project, and, in part A and B, we were asking you or part A we had asked you to provide a table that showed the difference in the costs in this, in this application, compared to the 0243 Leave to Construct application and to explain the differences.  And you provide a response.  If we can just -- yes.  If we can go down, scroll down, scroll down, please.  Yes.  If we can look under where it starts "additional reasoning for the cost increases" in this application?  So the first one you say is:
"Some costs related to rework, contract cancellations, material shortage, easements, and legal/regulatory LTC filing costs."

I just want to understand what you mean by some of these.  Can you explain what you mean by the "rework costs," rework of what?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  So, in this application, we had to do some rework because we had a previous design that was ready to go for the previous application.  Over the passage of time is we would then need to reevaluate to see if that exact design would still work, so we needed to revalidate whether or not it would still be appropriate or if anybody else had taken up any of that routing option.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So is that -- maybe that is just the use of your term "rework" versus -- you are making it seem like it is more of a validation, the previous design was still valid.  Is that what you are saying, or were there actually changes to the design and the engineering that had to be done?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  There would have been very, very minor changes to the design but nothing substantive.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I am correct that it is more of a validation of the previous design; that is what you are referring to here, with those costs?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Correct, yes, we would have had to refresh a lot of our studies to make sure that they are revalidated.  There would be some additional rework, though, that would have been associated from an environmental perspective.  So, for instance, if you scroll down a little bit, there is that bullet there that says the costs related to having external consultants refresh the environmental assessment for the project.  That has to happen because of the scope of the project also changed slightly, where we added the southernmost steel components to that pipeline.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, the next thing in that bullet we were talking about, I pointed you to, was it talked about cancellation, "contract cancellation."  Can you explain what that is referring to?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  These contract cancellations, they mostly had to refer with some temporary land use that we would have had to acquire for preparation of construction back in 2022 and 2023, but, when the project was denied by the OEB, we would have the to cancel those land use contracts.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So my first question -- I just want to make sure I -- so, first of all, were you paying amounts before the Board's decision and then you had to cancel it and so you had to pay some amount related, or is it just you had not actually started paying the amounts but there was a cancellation cost?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I would have to take that away to determine exactly when money was transferred to some of those landowners.  I believe in some cases we would have had to secure that land prior to the decision and in others we would have had to sign a contract indicating a payment plan.  But we can take that away as an undertaking, to indicate exactly when those payments were made.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you do that, and can you also undertake what were the total contract cancellation costs?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Yes, we can do that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT2.6.
UNDERTAKING JT2.6:  TO CONFIRM PAYMENT DATES RELATED TO CONTRACT CANCELLATIONS; TO ADVISE AMOUNTS OF LEASE-BREAKING COSTS


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, on the next page, if we flip to the next page, you said additional land -- there is a second bullet that says:
"Additional land costs related to breaking the lease on the first construction yard obtained and then having to secure a second construction yard for this project."

So can I ask you to -- so it at least sounds self-evident:  You had leased some land to construct the project; the Board decision came out; then you had to break the lease on that property or the land that you had leased?

Do I have that right?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can I ask you, similar to the previous question -- and we can wrap it into the same undertaking; it is okay with me -- if you could provide what those lease-breaking costs were, lease-cancellation costs, and, similarly, if you had already started paying the costs, paying some amount to the owner of the property before?  Can you do that?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Yes, we can do that.  I think it makes sense to combine them into a single undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  The question I actually -- if we could just step back for a second, I want to actually understand from a financial perspective what happened after the Board's decision in the last Leave to Construct application.

So the company had obviously started incurring costs in preparation for that project, design costs; obviously there were some hard costs that you were paying for.  There were some direct capitalized costs that you would have capitalized.  And then the Board issues its decision cancelling the project.

I want to understand from a financial perspective:  That amount of money that you presumably would have capitalized when the project went in service, what happened?  Did you write those costs off, or, no, they are actually sitting -- they are included in the project costs for this project?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Those project costs are included in this application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Were any costs written off?  I shouldn't say "written off" -- well, I mean you could say "written off," but that essentially are not included in the costs in this application?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I just need to confer with my colleagues.

[Witness panel confer]


MR. STERNBERG:  Perhaps to keep things moving and assist, why don't we take this back by way of undertaking and consider the request and provide a response that way?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Let's make that Undertaking JT2.7.
UNDERTAKING JT2.7:  TO DESCRIBE ACCOUNTING TREATMENT OF COUSTS REFERRED TO IN JT2.6


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I have a related question for you.  Can Enbridge undertake to itemize and quantify all costs included in the budget in this application that would not have been there if you had gone forward with the proposal in this application as opposed to the 0293 proposal and application?

So, if that had never happened, there was never that project, only this proposal, what would the difference be in costs, and, if you can, itemize the difference?

MR. STERNBERG:  Based on the hypothetical nature of that, I am not sure whether that can easily be determined or not, but why don't we take that request back by way of undertaking, as well, and, if we are able to answer it, we will, and, if we are not able to, we will advise.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, and, just to be clear, no need to go through all the receipts, every last receipt, but if you could provide -- you know, do as much as you can, that would be helpful.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT2.8.
UNDERTAKING JT2.8:  TO ITEMIZE AND QUANTIFY, AS IS POSSIBLE, COSTS IN THE BUDGET IN THIS APPLICATION THAT WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN THERE IF YOU HAD GONE FORWARD WITH THE PROPOSAL IN THIS APPLICATION, AS OPPOSED TO THE 0293 PROPOSAL AND APPLICATION.


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Rubenstein, it is Mr. Brophy.  Just a quick clarification:  Is that the same thing as asking for any of the costs from the previous project denied by the OEB that have been brought forward into this project cost?

Is that the same thing, or is that a different question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN: It is a different question.  I am not sure what denied means.  Presumably some of the costs that were previously incurred for design if it is the same would be the same costs in this application; right?  I am trying to understand.

MR. BROPHY:  Just to be clear so I don't duplicate, thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  You can ask the question how you wish.  Can I ask if we can go to 1.3-SEC-15, which is just the next one.  And we had asked in this question to provide a reconciliation between scope and costs as compared to the information included in the EB-2022-0200 capital update.  And in your response you talk about the costs in the asset management plan from July 2022, and then you explain that, you know, costs do change and scope does change.  But my question was specific not to the amounts that were in the original AMP, but the costs that were included in the capital update that was filed in June 2023.  So, can I ask you to revisit this undertaking with that clarification?  Sorry, revisit this interrogatory with that clarification?  Because there were costs increased included in the capital update that was filed then.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, yes, we can accept that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT2.9.
UNDERTAKING JT2.9:  TO REVIEW AND CLARIFY THE RESPONSE TO IR 1.3-SEC-15

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then my last question is:  In a number of place said in the evidence and the interrogatories the company says that if the project is approved, and it qualifies for ICM recovery, Enbridge Gas will bring forward a request for approval in the rate year in which the project goes into service, '25 or 2026.  Can I ask, by way of undertaking, that the company please provide an update, if it is in view, it is expected to qualify for ICM funding and if you plan to bring forward a request?

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes, we will do that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much, Panel.  That was very helpful.  Those are my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that will be undertaking JT2.10.
UNDERTAKING JT2.10:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE IF THE COMPANY EXPECTES TO QUALIFY FOR ICM FUNDING AND PLANS TO BRING FORWARD A REQUEST.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Next we have CAFES Ottawa, the first of Mr. Brophy's two parties that he is representing here.  Mr. Brophy, are you ready to go ahead right now?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  I am.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Please do.
Examination by Mr. Brophy


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Good morning, panel, and everybody in attendance.  Can you hear me, Jamie?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Brophy, yes.  I am not sure who that was underneath us there but, yes, Mr. Brophy, you can go ahead.

MR. BROPHY:  Sorry, yes I think somebody's mic was off.  So, good morning again.  My name is Michael Brophy and, as mentioned, I will be asking questions on behalf of two parties in the proceeding.  So, the first ones at this time are related to CAFES Ottawa which is a consumer organization in Ottawa that deals with, you know, across the City of Ottawa with residents and businesses and advocates for various issues in the City of Ottawa.

What I would like to do, just to start, is maybe do a quick clarification, if I may.  So, I asked this clarification yesterday, you may have heard.  There was an undertaking JT1.21  provided to Energy Probe yesterday for the incremental customers added in the City of Ottawa since 2020.  Does the panel recall that?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, yes, I recall that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  And then we asked if it meant what I am going to ask in a minute and it was confirmed it was different.  So, we would like to know the number of customers in Ottawa added by year since January 2020 that would by served off the current St. Laurent pipeline; is that something that you can provide?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, on a best-efforts basis, yes.  I believe we can provide that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT2.11.
UNDERTAKING JT2.11:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBER OF CUSTOMERS IN OTTAWA ADDED BY YEAR SINCE JANUARY 2020 THAT WOULD BY SERVED OFF THE CURRENT ST. LAURENT PIPELINE

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  So, that was it just from the cleanup or clarifications from yesterday.

So, the first IR question is related to CAFES Ottawa-2.  And I think they have been pulled up but, you know, whether you need them up or not if you need time to look at stuff just let me know for sure.  And the response to CAFES Ottawa number 2 provided the 20-year customer and load forecast for the Ottawa and Gazifère area.  And in that response Enbridge confirmed that it had nothing else that would provide any demand forecast over the amortization period for the proposed pipeline.  Am I on track with your understanding so far?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, that is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And just see if we can maybe just go to the table in that response.  Yes, that is fine.  As long as the panel can see it that is great.  So, if you look at the table and there is one for Gazifère as well.  It doesn't matter this is to illustrate the point.  This is just really the generic economic forecast approach that Enbridge has used when you don't have any specific information.  And if you look at the table, it adds an annual inflater through, I am assuming, an Excel spreadsheet would have been an inflater added there and then transferred to the table.  And it looks like the inflater annually is about 0.35 percent per year when I kind of look through the numbers from year to year.  Is that the approach in calculation that was used?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, no that is not correct.  It is not just a simple function of an inflater.  We rely off of a centralized econometric forecast for customer additions across the province.  That data is provided to the modelling team which develops this demand forecast within engineering.  Then there are a number of steps that are taken, including consultation with the operating regions, looking at actually requests that have come in.  Generally speaking, those are in the first few years of the plan.  And also number of proportioning and load allocation that is done as part of that.  And then the results that you are seeing here in terms of hourly flow is actually an output of that demand forecast being placed into our hydraulic model and analyzed and then put into this table.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, no.  That is perfect.  Thank you for the clarifications.  So, it is an Ontario-wide forecast with certain inputs as you mentioned, I think, by your economic group, and then that was applied.  So, looking at the table it is just it looks like it is a factor applied each year, but I think what you are saying is that, you know, that inflater is coming from that Ontario-wide modelling, and then what you do is you'd put it into your other model to figure out what that equals in demand.  Did I capture that correctly?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark, mostly.  So, I did say an Ontario forecast.  All I mean by that is there is a forecast for all of our areas in Ontario.  There are subcomponents to that, so it is not one number for Ontario.  It is a different number for each delivery area which then is broken down into the municipal and to the hydraulic level so that we can complete these calculations.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay great.  So, your area, I don't know what number it is.  It doesn't really matter for the Ottawa area.  That is not specific to customers being fed off the pipeline.  It is the broader area definition.  Is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  That is not entirely correct.  So the forecast that we will receive from the central group will be for the broader area, Ottawa 60 -- Area 60, it is known as.  But we take it through multiple further steps below that, to get to the granular level, so that we are assigning demand forecasts to the particular hydraulically influenced areas.

So what you are seeing on this screen is the hydraulic areas that are supported by the St. Laurent pipeline.  These are not for the entire Area 60.  This is just as it pertains to this particular project.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So would you be able to walk me through the specific adjustments you made based on the customers being served off the St. Laurent pipeline, and just maybe walk me through the list and the impact on what it meant to the inputs into this spreadsheet?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark:  I will do my best.  A lot of it is really nuanced calculations that are part of the model.  But, at a high level, we receive a customer forecast as I mentioned for the Area 60 Ottawa area that includes the breakdown of residential and commercial-industrial.

We also take in input from our regional offices; again, typically, this is on the short term, telling us where customers are currently asking for or projecting for the need of gas.

Those numbers however just give us the customer accounts.  The important part then is to relate that to an actual flow.  The flow is calculated from actual historical numbers within that region for those different customer classes.  And then, on top of that, our energy transition effects are applied to adjust the forecast out, based on our energy transition assumptions.

So all that comes together, the gross numbers in terms of customer accounts.  There is that location aspect, where we use local information, rezoning information, development information to locate those loads within the system.  And then we use our historicals, overlaid with energy transition  assumptions, to determine the peak hour per customer.  And then that is put together in the summation of what you are seeing here.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.  And on the energy transition assumptions and adjustments that you make, can you tell me what those are and what percent impact they have?

MR. CLARK:  Sorry, just give us a moment to confer.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Or, if it is easier, you can take it away.  I am easy, either way.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  So the energy transition assumptions were outlined in the rebasing evidence, and include a number of factors.  That creates a profile with different factors, year over year, and different between commercial and residential.  Those are applied on the volumes as a multiplier.

I do not have the number at hand in terms of what that percent reduction is, but I do believe it is a few percent reduction.  Again, it is not linear, it is not consistent year over year; there is variation from year to year, which is why you are seeing some different numbers, and not a consistent multiplier.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  And the rebasing evidence, Enbridge transition assumptions, I am assuming aren't for the pipeline or even for Ottawa.  I think they were for all of Ontario.  Correct?

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy, Enbridge:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So would you be able to provide a copy of that in this proceeding, and then confirm what the percent impact is, as you mentioned?  I think you said it was two or three percent but, if you can confirm that as well, that would be great -- in the forecast related to this IR response.

MS. MURPHY:  Jennifer Murphy.  If I could just clarify my previous response?  So I will just comment that the ET adjustments are by customer segment, so residential versus commercial-industrial, for example.

So we could provide that and explain a bit of the detail on how they were applied, by undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  And that would also include then the rebasing evidence that was referred to that you leveraged?  Is that the same thing that you are talking about?  Or is that something additional?

MS. MURPHY:  Yes.  We could direct you to that evidence, as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  Or just maybe provide the relevant section might be easier, so that we don't need to refer to another case.  That would be great.

MS. MURPHY:  Okay, understood.  We will see what we can do.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that undertaking JT2.12.
UNDERTAKING JT2.12:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL RE ET ADJUSTMENTS BY CUSTOMER SEGMENT, RESIDENTIAL VERSUS COMMERCIAL-INDUSTRIAL

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thank you, for that.  Okay.

The next question, it relates to CAFES Ottawa-10A, but it refers us to STAFF-11B.  So probably it would be STAFF-11B, if anybody needed to look at things.  And, in that response, Enbridge indicates that it would take extraordinary measures to reduce the operating risk if the current pipeline is retained.  CAFES Ottawa-10A asked for the time frame and cost estimates for each action Enbridge proposed.  And, as I mention, we were referred to STAFF-11B, that provided -- that only provided a list of the four actions Enbridge proposed to do, without any timeline or cost analysis.

Is Enbridge able to provide timelines and cost analysis as requested in CAFES Ottawa-10A?

MR. STERNBERG:  Can I just ask, just interjecting to assist:  Can I just ask you to scroll down a bit?  I thought there was a paragraph in this response that may say something on that topic.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Yeah, take your time.

MR. STERNBERG:  Yeah, at the end, there.

MR. BROPHY:  So I don't actually see any cost analysis there.  Am I missing?  Where is the cost analysis?

MR. STERNBERG:  What I was referring to -- maybe you can scroll up?  It is at the bottom of page 2, in this first line at page 3.  I think it says something about when the company will be in a position to address timing, but I am not sure if the witnesses have something further to add to that.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  In terms of cost, there is no cost analysis that has been completed on this because of the high-level nature of it.  I will draw your attention to -- in the response B, item No. 4?  This is an approximate indication of the number of customers that would be impacted, should we take this action.  But it is approximate at this point in time, only.

With these adjustments, the impact on the system would be so severe, reducing capacity by about 130,000 cubic metres per hour, that we would have to take detailed analysis, detailed consultation with stakeholders, such as the City of Ottawa and Ottawa Hydro, to potentially mitigate this, that the details of this would take some time to work through and address which customers and which areas will be affected.  Because the only way to sustain the system with this pressure reduction is to proactively interrupt the feed to large areas of the City of Ottawa.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  And I can appreciate that.  In particular, item 4, which is a theoretical estimation, if something were to happen, and it lays out a scenario.  It is very similar to what was done in the last application before the OEB on this project, and Enbridge actually undertook cost estimates and did exactly what you are talking about; they estimated the costs on that.  So it sounds like, for this application, you haven't done that same analysis.  Is that correct?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  That's not correct.  Those are two different things.  So, in the previous application and also elsewhere in this application, as well, there is evidence and numbers and discussions with regards to an emergency isolation.  So, in the event of an emergency isolation, it is assumed that there is no time to respond; there is immediate need to isolate the system.  And that will have broad effects, broader effects than actually this if you look at the numbers.

This would be a reduction in pressure and a proactive approach in order to balance the system such that, at that reduced pressure, we could at least keep a few customers on and we would work with the City and with the Hydros and the customers in order to try to maximize that number.  So those two scenarios are not the same.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Is there any documentation or report that outlines how the four measures outlined here were determined and when they will take effect?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  No.  These were high-level analyses and looks that were created for this response.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And none of these have actually been implemented to date, right, or have some of them been?

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  Yes, that is correct.  These have not been implemented.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  The next question is in relation to CAFES Ottawa-10B.  And 10B asked Enbridge why they have not put in place any mitigation measures.

And Enbridge indicated that it -- it actually referred us to B1.1, page 38, for the risk mitigation measures Enbridge had put in place.  So, actually, if we go to B1.1, page 38, I think that is the list that you are giving us in response to CAFES Ottawa 10B.  There are four things listed there.

If you need the reference again, just let me know.  So that B1.1, I have it down as page 38, and there is -- so the four measures that were outlined in the section are:  The first one is classify the mitigation measures, as you classified the St. Laurent pipeline as a vital main; the second one was you initiated daily surveillance of the right-of-way to keep a vigilant eye on construction activities proximate to the pipeline; the third one was mandated on-site oversight by Enbridge Gas personnel during an excavation activity in the vicinity of the pipeline; and then the fourth one was amplify public awareness campaign utilizing online platforms, social media, targeted communication, et cetera.

Actually, there was another one.  There were five.  The fifth one was:  Augmented the region with pipeline markers to enhance third-party recognition of the pipeline's location.

Do you recall that list?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  So those activities seem like the same kinds of activities that are done for other vital mains in Ontario.  Is that a similar approach you would use for other vital mains, that you would have staff nearby when monitoring when there is digging near the pipeline, regular surveillance, and those types of things?

Or is this unique to St. Laurent, and you don't do any of these for other vital mains?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Many of those would be associated with the vital main designation, but, for instance, the daily surveillance of right-of-way would not be specific to any vital main, so that is specific to the St. Laurent pipeline.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And the daily surveillance is due to concerns of construction activity in the City of Ottawa along the pipeline that could potentially impact the pipeline; is that the basis for that?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure I wasn't missing anything because that is the list I went to when we were referred there.

The next question is CAFES Ottawa-10, and it would be parts C to E, which requested any materials where Enbridge indicated a heightened risk of failure for the St. Laurent pipeline to the community and local stakeholders, including the City of Ottawa.

And Enbridge provided several appendices.  We don't need to go through them all.  You probably are familiar with them, but I am happy to go through whatever you need there.  But, in summary the first three documents in attachment 1 are just the regular notices for a Leave to Construct as required by the OEB's environmental requirements.  The next documents in attachment 2 and 3 are newspaper ads about the need to maintain the pipeline.  Attachment 4 is a letter to the mayor and council, et cetera.  The rest are e-mails or letters to various stakeholders.

There is nothing I see in any of these materials that actually notified the stakeholders of the danger or cautions due to the St. Laurent pipeline.  Is that correct?

Or is there something that really calls out the danger and risk associated with the pipeline?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  In our attachment 1, page 1, the Notice of Study Commencement and Public Information Session, we do include language right there, in the first paragraph, identifying the need for immediate replacement of the system to ensure the continued safe and reliable delivery of natural gas service.  So that is the language we used here and used  consistently throughout these communications.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so you are putting that as a basis for undertaking the public consultation as required under a Leave to Construct.  But there is nothing else that was in the materials.  Is that correct?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  This -- yes, this was the language that we used throughout, that really highlighted the need for an immediate replacement of the system.  And throughout our materials --


MR. BROPHY:  Okay, and so it --


MS. BLACK:  -- we discuss --


MR. BROPHY:  -- is not really -- sorry.

MR. STERNBERG:  Please allow the witness to complete her answer.

MS. BLACK:  Yes, so, just to finish my thought there, throughout our materials, we discussed the need for immediate replacement to continue safe, reliable delivery of gas in the area.

MR. BROPHY:  My apologies.  I am not sure if it was your end or my end.  I think there was a little Internet blip.  I thought you were done, sorry.

So there is nothing in the materials that then increases the awareness of the risk of those along the pipeline or, say, to contractors that are digging in the area or any other activities going on there.  I didn't see anything listed in there that would cause contractors or people along this route to do anything differently.  Was there anything that was along those lines in any of that material?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  So, like I said, we used this language in our communications to City staff and to the public.  I am not sure about your question for direct-to-contractor communications, but for our consultation and communications with city staff and the public, this was the language we were using.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  And maybe I will just kind of get to the point, so you kind of understand the premise of the question and, you know, there was material provided, newspaper ads, letters to, you know, council, mayor, like a bunch of stuff here and, you know, actually you included the whole list of everything.  But nowhere in there was an indication that, you know, there is heightened danger associated with the St. Laurent pipeline, or that there is -- you are asking for any help or increased awareness on taking activities like, you know, the call before you dig kind of thing like, you know, this is a such a situation that we need to really increase the awareness of call before you dig, you know, awareness of stakeholders along the pipeline if something were to happen, you know, what kind of emergency response, you know, they need to be aware of.  I didn't see anything that would have leveraged the ability with any of those stakeholders to actually do anything to mitigate any of the risks that you have highlighted.  And I am just wondering why didn't -- why did you skip that opportunity?  If there are already out reaching to them already, particularly the City of Ottawa staff and council and mayor's office.

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Can I just have a moment to confer with my colleagues?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

[Witness panel confer]


MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Just in response to your question about communication, you know, relating to safety of the pipeline and vital mains, we did, as indicated earlier in the discussion, do enhanced communication to the public through social media and also through our vital main process or vital main communication process.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, the interrogatory asked for that material and none of it was there.  You are saying that there is more that wasn't included that you have that you can provide?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  I was going to respond that the interrogatory was related to communications with the mayor and council and the public related to this application.  Those items that I just referenced were part of the process in between the denial and filing this application, so I could produce them for you.

MR. STERNBERG:  Perhaps, Mr. Brophy, I was going to interject, just bearing in mind the breadth of your question, which is really quite broad and asking about various types of communications throughout the process with various different stakeholders.  Why don't we deal with this by way of undertaking to move things along.  We will undertake to further consider your request and if there is additional information that is responsive and relevant to your request it will be provided, and if not we can advise.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yes.  Providing the additional information is great.  And to the extent if you don't think there is any then you can let us know as well.  Thank you.

MR. STERNBERG:  We will do that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT2.13.
UNDERTAKING JT2.13:  TO CONSIDER FURTHER THE REQUEST FOR COMMUNICATION MATERIALS AND PROVIDE, AND IF NOT, TO ADVISE.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay, terrific.  Thank you.  Okay.  The next question is in relation to CAFES Ottawa-11.

CAFES Ottawa-11 asked about whether there is an updated version of the asset health review table for the St. Laurent pipeline.  And you can pull that table up if you want to take a look.  But I take a -- I take from the answer that the Enbridge has not updated that graph; is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, we do not have a newer version of this graph and, as indicated in the response, it is because it is -- we now have the quantitative risk assessment to make our decisions based on.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Can you update this graph so that we would be able to see what your understanding is now versus what you thought it was previously?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  This is the asset health index chart.  We would not be able to incorporate the QRA methodology and use it to update this other type of approach to assess asset health.

MR. BROPHY:  So, it is not -- you can't -- you can't extrapolate or connect what you have done recently with the asset health review that was previously done.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Mr. Brophy, I would like to mention that the initial application, that is based on the asset  health review methodology that you see here in figure 17, was based on generic data from 12,000 kilometre of steel pipe for the entire network from which the condition of the St. Laurent pipeline was inferred.  And that is what we call the asset health review.  Since then, the current application is based on St. Laurent-specific data collected from in-line inspection, non-destructive examination, and other inspections that we now call the QRA, the quantitative risk assessment.  So, the quantitative risk assessment is a much more specific way of assessing the risks on the St. Laurent pipeline versus using a larger population and inferring the condition of the line.  So, if we were to update this table, it would add no incremental value to what the QRA is currently providing.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, there would be no impact on the table, it wouldn't change it.  There is nothing to be able to change that table?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  As I mentioned I am not saying there would be no impact on the table.  I am saying the level of scrutiny and detail in the QRA provide a much better quantification of risk than this table would ever provide.  So, as a professional engineer, if I am asked to make a decision on the risk of the St. Laurent I would refer to the QRA before referring to the AHR methodology.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I think I understand the basis of your answer.  The QRA still extrapolates the information based on your integrity work to the broader pipeline, but you are saying at least it is more local things related to the pipeline versus, you know, using broader Ontario data.  I think is what you are saying; is that accurate?

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes.  So, I think, just to kind of to be clear, we talking about two different items.  One is using 12,000 kilometre of data to infer the condition of a pipeline that is 10, 11, kilometres long.  So, we are using generic data for whether it is corrosion, on stress-corrosion cracking, or what have you, and then trying to infer that condition.  And another is using a statistically representative subset of a particular asset with a certain confidence level to infer the condition of the remainder of that asset.

So one is a statistical approach that is in situ, that is very localized to the asset and, in others, a generic method that is inferring the condition of an asset from a way broader population.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  And what I recall from the evidence is Enbridge picked the location of your integrity work based on a variety of factors.  And Enbridge highlighted the difficulty along the St. Laurent pipeline, because it is a very busy downtown portion of Ottawa; there are certain places you couldn't get access to.  So you just had to go with the spots that were available to you.

So it wasn't a random statistical selection along the pipeline.  It was using the spots you had access to, based on your evidence.  Isn't that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  This is incorrect, Mr. Brophy.  Maybe I will walk you through the like-in-kind approach that we have used.  And the like-in-kind approach is an industry-acceptable method that is based on engineering and statistical components and best practices.  So it is a process of defining systems or components where key attributes that influence an outcome are sufficiently similar that it can be reasonably expected that the system exhibits similar characteristics for that outcome.

So, specific to St. Laurent, there were two key factors that influenced corrosion:  cathodic protection and coating type.  There were other attributes that we looked at, as well, like the geographic location, meaning the physical and the environmental factors that influence the pipeline, and then vintage.

So what we have done is we have created or divided the line into segments, segments that would be able to determine the susceptibility of corrosion for the vast majority of the line, 87.5 percent.  And those segments were able to do that, so determine the susceptibility of the line from a corrosion perspective, with a confidence level of 99 percent and an error margin of plus or minus 5 percent.

So those stated confidence levels indicate that there is sufficient sampling performed on the line in order to draw adequate conclusions when it comes to corrosion susceptibility of the pipeline.

So this is what we call the like-in-kind approach.  So although there were restrictions as you have indicated along the various aspects of the pipeline, but we still were able to get the samples that are adequate to infer the condition of the full pipeline with a high level of confidence.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  And like-in-kind, I think there was an IR response on how you selected that for use in this application, as it is a fairly, you know, new application to this process.  But I think you have described it, there.

There was the area where Enbridge identified the reduced wall thickness that you did an emergency repair on.  Do you recall that?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Is that in reference to the feature under the 417 on ramp?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct, yes.  And, on that one, Enbridge indicated it doesn't actually know what caused it.  It is some local factor, but you are unaware what actually caused that.  Right?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So how would you imply like-in-kind to a specific area, probably the worst problem on the entire pipeline, when you don't know what actually caused it?  How do you apply that from a like-in-kind perspective?

Do you just assume every pipeline in Ontario is like that?  Or do you say no, this is isolated, we don't know what caused it.  And therefore, you know, we just have to treat it individually?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  No, we would not assume every pipeline in Ontario would have similar characteristics.  As I mentioned earlier, in this particular sampling process that we have undertaken, the major drivers were CP and coating, in addition to vintage and geographic location.

So because the pipeline is contained within a small geographic region and exhibits similar characteristics along the right of way that we have categorized and segmented -- they are not identical, but they are not as extreme in difference as you would expect between a pipeline in, I don't know, North Bay and Windsor because they are contained within the same system -- we were able to say that this 80 percent feature based on the conditions that this pipeline is operating under, there is a likelihood that the remaining 60 percent of the line that has not been inspected, that those similar characteristics that led to that feature -- without necessarily understanding the root cause because we don't have access to the particular feature -- but from a professional engineering perspective, if we did find based on a 4.5 or 4.4 kilometre inspection a number of features, including some that are as deep as 80 percent or deeper, that again, other features that are 40, 50, 60 percent deep, we have to use the like-in-kind method and extrapolate conditions, because we prove that we have -- we have proven that the condition of the pipeline based on the sampling that we have done has a high confidence level.

So based on that confidence level, we can then infer that there is a high likelihood that a similar feature could be present in the remaining 60 percent of the line.

I mean, the alternative, as professional engineers, we can't say we find an 80 percent feature, and we are going to assume the rest of the line is clean.  That is not a safe or defensible engineering methodology.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like that the most conservative approach is to apply the worst feature on the pipeline and assume that that is applicable to the rest of the pipeline?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I would like to clarify that when we use the like-in-kind methodology and incorporated that in our quantitative risk assessment, we did not focus specifically on the 80 percent feature.  We incorporated every feature that was found through the in-line inspection methods that we have conducted.  So that is a 20 percent feature or a 50 percent feature or an 80 percent feature.

And that went into the risk assessment, along with the associated uncertainties when it comes to probability of detection, probability of sizing and other factors, in order to extrapolate the condition.

So the QRA is in way saying the 80 percent is the only feature, and let's try to replicate it, you know, several times or multiple times.  On the other side of the uninspected portion, we took the whole population of data that we had, whether it is for dents, gouges, corrosion features, et cetera, and then we used the risk model to infer the condition on the remaining 60 percent.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So --


MR. CHEBARO:  It is one data.

MR. BROPHY:  Just to make a long story short, the 80 percent feature was included and not excluded from your extrapolation.  Correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Correct.  The 80 percent feature was one of over 600 features -- corrosion, metal-loss features, included in the quantitative risk assessment.  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I don't want to spend too much time on all the statistical analysis, because I am sure we would be all day.  Okay.

So the next question, it was in relation to CAFES Ottawa-14.  But Enbridge referred us to the City of Ottawa site for the documents related to the motion.  And so CAFES Ottawa retrieved those and filed a copy.  We did give Enbridge a heads-up yesterday, when they were filed, that we may ask about them.  So I just wanted --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Brophy -- sorry, Mr. Brophy, I am just going to interrupt you, if you are moving on to another item here.  Have you given some thought to what might be a good time for a break?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, why don't -- this will be a quick question --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. BROPHY:  -- and then we can take a break.  Yeah, it sounds good to me.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Great.  Thanks.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

I just wanted to confirm that these are the redacted documents related to the motion and, just in case Enbridge had a different copy, one of the problems with Enbridge referring us to another source to retrieve them.  And, you know, obviously they are not going to have unrelated documents on that source you sent us to.  But can you just confirm that you don't have a different version than this?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black:  We have the same version.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Perfect, thank you.  I just didn't want to -- make sure I didn't miss something in the versioning.  So, okay.  So why don't we  take a break at this point, then?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Let's do that.  It is just coming up on 11:05, now.  Why don't we come back at 11:20 and, Mr. Brophy, you can continue.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, everybody.
--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  WE are back on the record.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thank you very much.  The next question relates to CAFES Ottawa-14.  CAFES Ottawa-14 covered the newspaper article and the radio interview related to Councillor Tierney's discussions with Enbridge.  I am assuming the panel is familiar with that.

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Enbridge -- I won't take you through everything, and, instead of providing the link to the interview, we almost provided by the transcript.  We just thought that would just be a lot of paper, and it is much more exciting listening to it than reading it.

So Enbridge was quoted in the article on page 3, the Enbridge spokesperson, Leanne McNaughton, indicated that this pipeline does not need to be replaced immediately, just due to it being in operation for over 60 years [audio dropout] --


MR. STERNBERG:  Sorry to interject, but just --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  We should be clear on this.  I think from the response that is not what the article said.  If you want to get into that detail, perhaps you can pull up the article.  But I think you said she is quoted as saying "does not need to be replaced," and I think the --


MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- indicates that it said "does need to be replaced."  So perhaps you can pull up the article or refer --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- used in the response, please.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, so that was CAFES Ottawa-14, and then the article was one of the attachments.  It is page 3 of that.

MR. STERNBERG:  So why don't you just give us a moment to have that pulled up on the screen.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STERNBERG:  Sorry, which attachment?  Can you give us the reference again, to the article?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yes.  So let me just pull this up here.

MR. STERNBERG:  Is the article, itself -- if you included it with your IR --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- is it on the record?

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, it is.  It is CAFES Ottawa, IR Appendix A, St. Laurent article, 2024-09-06.  If you need me to project it, I am happy to do that.  It would actually be page 4 of 6 in that PDF.

MR. STERNBERG:  I think the difficulty we are having in pulling it up is it is not actually attached to the response, so I don't --


MR. BROPHY:  No.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- [audio dropout] we have it handy here.  I don't know.  I mean you can ask your question and see if the witness needs for it to be pulled up, but I just want --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STERNBERG:  I interjected because I think you were, you may have been, misstating what the quote was of the Enbridge representative.

MR. BROPHY:  That is totally fine, and, if you trust me, subject to check, I will read exactly the quote off the document, and, if you need me to project it, I am happy to do that if you don't believe it is being read correctly.

MR. STERNBERG:  Why don't we proceed that way, and the witness can indicate if they need to -- it would be useful for them to see the actual article.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  It would be [audio dropout] in the PDF indicates:
"Enbridge spokesperson Leanne McNaughton concurred, saying, 'This does" -- Oh, sorry.  "'This does need to be replaced immediately --'"

I think you are right.  Sorry about that.

"'This does need to be replaced immediately, just due to it being in operation for over 60 years.'"

So, yes, sorry.  That is the quote.  I am assuming, then, that spokespeople like Leanne then would consult with the right people with knowledge and authority prior to making statements like that.  Is that an accurate characterization?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  I won't go into the whole process that she would use to do that, but I think that is sufficient.

Does the panel know how many kilometres of pipeline that Enbridge has in Ontario that are over 60 years old?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I am aware that the distribution network in Ontario is around 150,000, approximately 150,000 kilometres.  We don't have -- I don't have the number on me in terms of the vintage breakdown, but I could tell you that it is a distribution of vintage between probably the late '40s, '50s, all the way up to current vintage.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, and, my understanding, there are pipelines even that are a hundred years or potentially even slightly over that, as well.  Would that be accurate?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I am not sure if we have pipelines in that type of vintage, but I do want to stress one point as a team member on the integrity and risk team.  Vintage can be a factor of determining the integrity of a line, but vintage is not always a factor when conducting integrity and risk assessments.  As has been shown in the QRA, we look at specific threats that are prevalent in the pipeline at the time of the inspection.  So you could have a line that is 20 years old and be worse than a line that is 50 years old or vice versa.  So vintage is a factor, but vintage is not the only determining factor for integrity actions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, excellent.  And that is my understanding, as well, so thank you for that clarification.

Would you be able to provide how many kilometres of pipeline are 60 years or older?

MR. STERNBERG:  Perhaps we will -- I am pausing over the relevance of that, especially given the answer that the witness just gave.  So perhaps, to move things along, we will take your request back and consider it, and, if we are able to and prepared to provide that information, we will, and, if not, we will advise you as to the reason why.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So are you giving the undertaking now, or are you going to advise whether you are prepared to give the undertaking?

MR. STERNBERG:  No, I think it is easier for you to mark it as an undertaking to do what I said, which is to request take the request back and either answer it or, if we aren't going to, explain the reasons why.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Great.  Thanks, Mr. Sternberg.  That will be JT2.14.
UNDERTAKING JT2.14: TO CONSIDER THE QUESTION OF HOW MANY KILOMETRES OF PIPELINE ARE 60 YEARS OR OLDER, AND IF POSSBLE, TO RESPOND; OTHERWISE TO ADVISE WHY


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So, the November 22, 2023 CBC Radio interview that we provided information on, it is called "Enbridge Gas lays out what it sees as the consequences if the City does not buy into the project."

Councillor Tierney was one of the people interviewed, and he said, and I quote, he is:
"...supportive of the city's net zero intentions, but, after speaking with Enbridge, he became concerned that stalling the pipeline replacement could put his residents at risk of a catastrophic power loss."

Councillor Tierney indicates that that point of view came from his discussions with Enbridge.  Was that accurate with what you understand the discussions were with Councillor Tierney?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  As the pipeline goes through Councillor Tierney's ward, we did share information with him throughout a number of months.  In those meetings or conversations, we would have spoken about the need to replace the pipeline and emphasized that need for pipeline replacement.  So this information was brought to his attention.  I am unable to comment on the choice of words that Councillor Tierney selected in his discussions, but he certainly received information that, based on what he said, drew him to that conclusion.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, when he states that people would be freezing in the winter of 2023, that is not wording that Enbridge supported or provided to Councillor Tierney; would that be a correct assumption?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Councillor Tierney drew those assumptions on his own, so he could speak to that.  I cannot speak to the words he chose.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And then also in that interview, if you would listen to it you may recall that Enbridge's construction manager, Steve Rogers, was interviewed around the 1 minute 50 second mark, and based on the wording that Councillor Tierney had chosen he tried to clarify the record to deescalate the concerns with some of the wording that was used.  And in that interview Enbridge's construction manager indicated that there is no immediate threat but some form of mitigation would be required.  Do you think that that's a more appropriate statement than what Councillor Tierney's words were?

MR. STERNBERG:  I am going to interject because you are -- obviously, the interview is not -- we haven't just listened to it.  You've summarized part of it and you're asking them to comment on your summary of what was said in the interview.  I think a better way to proceed which is more accurate is, by way of undertaking, if you are asking the Enbridge witness to listen to that part of the interview and comment on what was said, I think in fairness to the witness, we can deal with it by way of undertaking rather than you describing what may have been said in the interview and then asking for comment on the spot.  So, we are prepared to deal with it by way of undertaking if you want us to respond to that.

MR. BROPHY:  Maybe a more efficient way, and I have been in that position carrying away a lot of undertakings, I don't want to make work.  Maybe I will ask it in a more simple way.  Does Enbridge believe that information provided on a radio interview like that by their own construction manager would be more specific and accurate than interpretations that somebody who didn't work in the industry would be using; is it more accurate?

MR. STERNBERG:  I have to interject again.  If you want them to answer a question that relates to that interview or what was said or comment on it, then I think they have got to have an opportunity to listen to it and then respond rather than trying to do it in a vacuum, so --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I will take the undertaking.

MR. STERNBERG:  We just had a discussion, if you want to restate exactly, so the witness is clear, what you are asking them to comment on when they go back and listen to that part of the interview?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So, Councillor Tierney's interpretation of information from Enbridge was that citizens of Ottawa could be freezing in the dark or freezing, not in the dark.  I don't think he used that wording.  In the winter of 2023 Enbridge's construction manager indicated that Enbridge has precautions in place to ensure the flow of gas to decrease concerns that gas  would not available the winter of 2023, and also Enbridge's construction manager indicated some form of mitigation would be required.  So, if that can be taken away, and if that is an incorrect statement then just maybe state why and let us know why?

MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  We will undertake to have the appropriate witness listen to that part of the interview, and if they have further comment or response they can provide in response to your question they will.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, that will be undertaking JT2.15.
UNDERTAKING JT2.15:  TO HAVE THE APPROPRIATE WITNESS LISTEN TO THAT PART OF THE INTERVIEW, AND IF THEY HAVE FURTHER COMMENT OR RESPONSE THEY CAN PROVIDE IN RESPONSE TO YOUR QUESTION THEY WILL.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

MR. CHEBARO:  Maybe if I can jump in here, Mohamed Chebaro.  Just for the record, the mitigation efforts that we talked about in exhibit B1.1, pages 38 and 39, and I have gone through them earlier today, temporarily reduce risks as low as practicable to it fit for service level in the short term, but do not eliminate those risks in the long term.  So, the St. Laurent, as is, is deemed conditionally fit for service until the soonest practical date for permanent mitigation which currently stands at end of '25, end of '26.  And I am jumping in because the TSSA did say that action is required on the line, which aligns with Enbridge's conclusions on that topic.  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I appreciate -- we are actually going to get into that subject, and specifically what TSSA said and did not say, so I appreciate you bringing it up and we  will get back to that specific item and the evidence on the record there.  Thank you for that.

So, do you know who at Enbridge had the discussions with Councillor Tierney and when they occurred?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Are you able to provide that information?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  We did file in our evidence the list of meetings and conversations with Councillor Tierney, exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Maybe we can just pull that up quickly and take a look.  If you need to then you may need to give the reference again if they are looking for it.  I don't see it on the screen.

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Exhibit B, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment 1.

MR. BROPHY:  So, maybe you can just show me where the meetings with Councillor Tierney are in that, or the discussions?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  There is meetings with Councillor Tierney documented throughout the log.  I don't know if you want me to read numbers out on --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MS. BLACK:  -- line 31.

MR. BROPHY:  31.  Maybe we can move to that on the screen.  So, that is an e-mail.  Is that it?

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, just to assist.  I think it is a fairly long document with, as the witness indicated, a number of entries.  If you want her to, you know, spend the time slowly page by page to make sure she catches each one we can do that.  Or, if it is more efficient, to provide you that by way of undertaking we can do that too.  Whichever --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  That would be terrific, and to the extent that the discussions that we were just talking about aren't in the log, if that information can be provided or if it is in the log then also just provide that in the response that would be great.

MR. STERNBERG:  Sure.  So, just so the undertaking is clear, so we will go through this document and advise you of which line entries relate to discussions or documents with Councillor Tierney.  And if there are any additional discussions or meetings with Councillor Tierney that occurred that aren't reflected here we will indicate that as part of the response.

MR. BROPHY:  That is terrific, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So, we will make that undertaking JT2.16.
UNDERTAKING JT2.16:  TO REVIEW THE DOCUMENT AND ADVISE WHICH LINE ENTRIES RELATE TO DISCUSSIONS OR DOCUMENTS WITH COUNCILLOR TIERNEY; IF THERE ARE ANY ADDITIONAL DISCUSSIONS OR MEETINGS WITH COUNCILLOR TIERNEY THAT OCCURRED THAT AREN'T REFLECTED HERE, TO INDICATE THAT AS PART OF THE RESPONSE.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  Thank you very much.  And while you have that log up, actually, it is a good place to be.  We did ask about the City of Ottawa lobby registry and the only entries on it were communications with one person, Matthew Wilson, who I think is Enbridge's lobbyist for the City of Ottawa.  Does that sound accurate or do you think that there is other lobby records that relate to the other communications?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.   At the time of these meetings, Matthew Wilson was the municipal adviser for the City of Ottawa.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it is not surprising his name was on the lobby registry.  But we didn't see any of the other discussions.  Was the table you just walked us through with all the communications with the City of Ottawa and councillors, was that all done by Matthew Wilson?  Or would it have been others, as well?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  As indicated in the table, some of the meetings were with Matthew Wilson, other meetings were with various Enbridge representatives.  As the meeting summarized in the table, it covered a variety of topics, not just specific to the St. Laurent project.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So there were only a few entries that include -- well, and they were all Matthew Wilson's name in the lobby registry.  So why aren't any of the other interactions entered into the registry?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  We meet with municipal officials on a number of topics and for a number of reasons, you know, to share information, to provide updates.  So those -- that is the regular course of business for us in our municipal engagement.  And, as such, those are not logged on the lobby registry.

MR. BROPHY:  So then you don't -- what I am understanding, you don't think the lobby registry requirements apply to Enbridge when it is undertaking its normal course of business.  Is that what I heard?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  Not exactly, just that the city has its own lobby registry guidelines, which apply to anyone that is meeting with the city on any business.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So all the other interactions not in the registry you think are exempt from the lobby registry requirements.  Is that accurate?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  As I mentioned, meeting with municipal officials and meeting with the city is part of our regular course of operation and, as such, those are standard-process regular updates.  We would not register those on the lobby registry.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, I won't spend any more time on it.  It sounds like you don't think you need to register those interactions.  So I won't, kind of, delay it any further.

The next question is on SEC-2, attachment 3, page 8.  Yeah, that is the one.  Perfect.  And that is terrific, right where it is.

So you will see on the slide under the stakeholder item, it indicates that:
"EGI's approved stakeholder plan will be executed, including outreach to potential project-champion stakeholder groups, including Indigenous communities."

And I believe it also indicates that the approved stakeholder plan was approved by your vice president, Malini Giridhar.  Is that correct, so far?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And was a copy of the approved stakeholder plan filed in this proceeding, already?

MS. BLACK:  Kendra Black.  It was not.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And are you able to file that?

MR. STERNBERG:  I see the -- I think there is some hesitation.  I am not familiar with what is in that but, to keep things moving, we will undertake to look for that plan and review it.  And if we are inclined to producing it, we will.  And if there is any reason why we aren't, we will advise.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And if you find that there are areas that you think need to be redacted on a -- is this in line with the OEB's guidelines then, you know, using that process is also fine, if you think it is required.

MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  Thanks.  That is helpful.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that is JT2.17.
UNDERTAKING JT2.17:  TO REVIEW IF EGI'S APPROVED STAKEHOLDER PLAN WILL BE FILED

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, terrific.  Okay.

And then I gave Enbridge a heads-up, I think it was a few weeks ago, maybe, that we would be asking some questions about project alternatives but that, you know, try to stay away from those of requiring Dillon, given that they weren't going to be on this panel.

And also -- so maybe I will just start with an easy one:  So my understanding is the pipeline route was selected more by integrity and operations folks, rather than kind of the normal environmental report consultant, where they, you know, undertake an approach.

I can lay it out for you if you want, but there is an approach they typically use for leave to constructs, and I understand it was more driven by integrity and operations, rather than that.  Is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  That is incorrect.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it was Dillon then that did all your alternatives and selection of the preferred route?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch:  Yes, we hired Dillon to assist with the environmental report.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So any questions I have about that process, I guess, I would have to save for Dillon, is that -- if they were the ones that undertook that work?  Is that accurate?

MR. STERNBERG:  Sorry, Dillon's not on the panel and isn't going to be on the subsequent panel.  The subsequent panel is just Posterity and Integral.  So, if you have questions on that topic, for this TC, you should ask them now.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, it might be, it might be -- why don't I try to keep them as simple as possible, if -- just to not get you into the inner workings of Dillon?

But if you go to exhibit F1.1, attachment 3?

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, I should just add, too, so that the record is clear:  If witnesses are able to answer your questions then, of course, they will.  If there is some question that requires them to reach out to Dillon by way of undertaking, we can proceed that way, if need be.

MR. BROPHY:  Absolutely, yeah.  And I think Enbridge filed the report as a separate attachment, that -- the way you do it with the link, and then you file it separately.  I am not sure that link always works; I think somebody was trying to click on it.  But it would be in the public record, the actual document, listed as F1.1, attachment 3.

And if it will take a minute to find that, do you want me to go on to another question, then we can come back?  Does that make sense?  I don't want to lose time.

MR. STERNBERG:  But which undertaking?  Sorry, it may assist, too, if you can help us with which undertaking response you are seeking to clarify at this point.  And we can have the witnesses see that and then go from there, if the environmental report itself needs to be pulled up.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  It is the route selection.

MR. STERNBERG:  Which IR response?

MR. BROPHY:  I don't have that noted down.  Maybe it is easier -- actually I don't want to put the panel on the spot if this is outside their scope.  Maybe I can just ask for an undertaking.  I can state the question, and then you can just take it away.  It might be easier.  Oh, you found it.  Perfect.

MR. STERNBERG:  If you are, if you are able to tie it so that the witnesses are clear and we are all clear as to what IR response you are seeking to clarify, I think that would help frame whatever your question may be.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STERNBERG:  Hopefully help us understand it.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and it is a simple question.  F1, attachment 3, page 20 is just the map of the project which we have been talking about over yesterday and today.  Page 20, yes, there is the map there.  Great.  Thank you.  So that represents the proposed project route.  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is correct.  And I just want to clarify, as well, it is from an environmental report development process as well as a route and route alternative selection process.  We followed the standard process that we would do for any LTC project.  There was no difference for this particular application.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And can you just explain what the purpose of the study area is, as outlined and using the normal OEB guideline process?

MR. MURDOCH:  The purpose of the study area that is outlined is to review what our preferred route and our potential alternative routes would be and then study them from an environmental/socioeconomic impact side of things.

MR. BROPHY:  And I am assuming also the impacts related to those, as well, and the mitigation and all the things --


MR. MURDOCH:  Yes --


MR. BROPHY:  -- that then flow from -- yes.

MR. MURDOCH:  Yes, and obviously environmental, as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and socioeconomic, everything that is in the OEB's guidelines.

So do you know why the study area is so narrow, narrowly bound?

That is not a typical thing for a Leave to Construct.  It just seemed a bit odd.  Usually, it would be a box that includes the start and end point and looks at a lot more alternatives than this.  I am just wondering why, and I guess somebody made that decision somewhere.  If you could explain why or take it away, that would be great.

MR. MURDOCH:  Just give me a moment.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  The study area that was chosen is typical for these kinds of pipeline projects that would explore different routes.  I don't think it would be feasible to paint a box around this entire area and conduct an environmental study for the entire scope of what is represented here, on the map, which would be incapsulated by a box, if that is what you were proposing to do here.

MR. BROPHY:  But, if you don't look at broader alternatives, then, like is done in many of the other route Leave to Constructs, there might be alternatives that aren't included.  Do you understand that that could be an issue?

It looks like you have made the decision about where it should run before the environmental assessment is undertaken.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  We identified a number of potential options in order to go from St. Laurent control station to Rockcliffe station, and we evaluated them initially from a constructability perspective, and those are the options that are shown here, on the screen, from a preferred and alternative route option.

In terms of the overall width, we did make sure our study area boundary included 125 metres on each side of the preferred and alternate routes, for a total width of 250 metres, so that is what you see within that dashed line area there.  It is a 250-metre width.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  So, when you say "we," "we identified the routes on this map," you are talking about Enbridge and then Enbridge provided those to Dillon?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Enbridge worked with Dillon to make sure we were following the guidelines from the OEB.

MR. BROPHY:  But these actual routes that came -- when you said "we identified," are you talking about Enbridge or Dillon?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  By "we," I mean Enbridge and Dillon working together to make sure that we were in compliance with the guidelines.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay, thank you for that.

Jamie, I am going to end with the CAFES Ottawa questions, so happy to switch hats and start on the Pollution Probe ones, and you can let me know what makes sense as far as timing.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That sounds good.  Mr. Sternberg, I am assuming your panel is okay for a while still?

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes.  We are fine to still carry on for a bit.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am in all of your hands, I guess, but I am showing a lunch break in today's schedule at around 12:40.  So, Mr. Brophy, why don't you get started, and we will see where things are around 12:30 or 12:40 and maybe take our break then.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  No, that sounds terrific, and I will try to keep my eye on the watch.  If I lose track, just jump in, please.  Thanks.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Will do.  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I guess it is "good afternoon" now, 12:00 on the nose.  My name is Michael Brophy.  I am going to be asking questions on behalf of Pollution Probe.  So, just to start, there are a couple of clarification questions coming out of discussions yesterday, related to issues in the IRs, and I just wanted to ask about and spend a minute or two on those.

So, the first one, there was a discussion Mr. Ladanyi had with, I think it was, Cody Wood, who I think is supervisor energy transition planning.  And Mr. Wood was providing a response in relation to heat pumps.  Do you recall that?

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, I think it would assist:  Can you tell us which IR response this discussion was related to so we can --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- pull it up --


MR. BROPHY:  I don't --


MR. STERNBERG:  -- [audio dropout]


MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Ladanyi would have provided that reference.  There was about a 10-minute discussion on heat pumps.  So I would have to go back to the transcript to see what Mr. Ladanyi referenced.

MR. STERNBERG:  If you have some follow-up question, you can ask it.  If the witness is clear what you are asking, that is fine.  If they need to see what IR response it relates to, they can indicate that.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Yes, no problem.  So there was discussion about heat pumps and a few questions on those.  I guess what I am trying to understand is -- Mr. Wood is the only one who gave responses to that.  I don't know if others on the panel wanted to provide info or if it really is just Mr. Wood.  But I am just trying to figure out if the responses were Mr. Wood's feedback as an expert on heat pumps or just general opinion basis.

So I will just ask a quick clarifying, well, two quick clarifying questions.  One is:  I assume that Enbridge and perhaps Mr. Wood knows that an electric cold-climate air-source heat pump is able to maintain residential heating without any supplementary heating even on the coldest days in Ottawa.  Is that something you are aware of?  I [audio dropout] take you out if you're not an expert on heat pumps, but, if you could, just let me know.

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge Gas, Cody Wood.  It is my understanding that the ability of a heat pump to provide heating through cold-weather conditions is dependent on a considerable number of factors.  So, it is not simple to say that a cold climate heat pump can provide all the heating requirements for a home even at very extreme cold weather conditions without taking into consideration the particulars of the building and the installation of that heat pump.

MR. BROPHY:  And exactly.  So, if it is designed correctly and installed correctly, would you agree that an electric cold climate air source heat pump could provide all the heating needs for a residential building on the coldest day in Ottawa?

MR. WOOD:  I would not agree with that.  Again, Cody Wood, from Enbridge.  I think that depends on the what the particular temperature is that we're referring to with respect to the coldest day in Ottawa.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. WOOD:  And what a cold climate heat pump or the particular cold climate heat pump specified for a particular home is sized to accommodate.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And I can give you those specifics.  So, design day is minus 32 degrees, I believe, in your evidence and the coldest day on record that you have was minus 30.8 degrees Celsius, which actually just happened in the winter of 2023.  That was in Pollution Probe-54.  And so, an electric cold climate air source heat pump would be able to provide the full heating below minus 30, and even below the coldest day of minus 30.8.  Are you aware of that?

MR. WOOD:  Enbridge, Cody Wood, that is incorrect.  I am not aware of any cold climate heat pump that could provide full space heating requirements down to minus 30.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And are you putting yourself forward as an expert on heat pumps or is that just your understanding?

MR. WOOD:  That is my understanding of cold climate heat pumps and what I am aware of.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  That is terrific.  Does anybody on the panel have a different understanding, or you are willing to just accept, Mr. Wood?

MR. WOOD:  Cody Wood, I believe that's the panel's view.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Okay.  So, if we can move to Pollution Probe-27, attachment 1, and it is the QRA report, so, you know, I will just jump in.  I think some of you have it memorized by now.  We can go to elements as we go through the questions.  And then there was the correspondence internal e-mails and correspondence at Enbridge in relation to the QRA was provided and in the Pollution Probe-27 response.  And I did see that some of the people on the panel were part of that and received congratulations from Enbridge management on their innovation and ingenuity in creating a new risk approach.  I think yesterday you covered with stakeholders that, you know, this was kind of a custom approach developed for St. Laurent that had never been done before, and that there was an IR question about whether you intended to use it again and the answer was, no, you were actually going to use the EDIMP, which I think you talked about is related to some of the same principles and approaches, but this was a custom approach for St. Laurent, this specific QRA report.  Is that accurate so far, or am I off-base?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  this was the first application of this detailed level of QRA for the assessment of a distribution pipeline.  As I am sure you are well aware, a distribution pipelines present a variety of challenges with gathering site-specific information which we were able to overcome by applying crawler methodologies and other approaches to gather as much site-specific data and pipeline-specific information as we can gather.  However, the assessment methodologies themselves, the approach of using QRA, followed industry practices that we have employed for many years at Enbridge assessing the risk and reliability of our highest risk assets and those are our assets in our transmission integrity program.  So, to just to summarize the approach is the methodologies are well known to the engineers that applied them and very common in the industry.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And with your application of EDIMP on future pipelines, I am assuming you would adapt that, you know, based on any code changes, improvements, you know, in technology or approaches and it would evolve over time, kind of like normal; is that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, that is our expectation, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  Terrific.  How long did it take to develop the QRA report and analysis for the St. Laurent project?  Was it like a one-year project, three-year project, like ball park timeline?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer for a second with my colleagues.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  in this case, the data collection activities and surveys took about 6 months, and then the quantitative risk and reliability assessment took about another 6 months.  I am going to refer to my colleague, Mr. Chebaro here, that can give you little bit more detail on that schedule.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, if we could please pull up exhibit I.1-STAFF-1B, page 1, please.  So, STAFF-1B, attachment 2, page 1.  So, this is showing the flow of how the program was designed from the risk identification all the way to the alternative evaluation.  So, although there is no timeline on the X axis, but those are the major steps and you see at the top there are the inputs and at the bottom are the outputs.  And you see that, for example, in the first column to the left this is where, like, for example we carried out the integrity program, the NDE, the ILI, which resulted in condition data from ILI and NDE, ratepayers, et cetera.  So, this is kind of the flow of how the program took place and, as my colleague indicated, the inspection data collection took around 6 months in the second half of 2022, and then following that the QRA took around about 6 months as well.

MR. BROPHY:  No, that is very helpful.  So, it is showing that it occurred from 2022 to 2024.  So, within over a, you know, two-year period.  And I am assuming there was quite a few resources involved in developing all that, collecting the data and analyzing, and writing the report; is that accurate?

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, I will just clarify that.  The risk assessment would stop at the assess risk for the title.  So, the QRA would be the first two columns, column 1 is identifying the risk and then QRA is assessing the risk.  Following that, those would be box 3 would be how to respond to the risk through, you know, the file name designation the mandatory on-site, like, the things we talked about earlier from how did we mitigate the risk, and after that we get into the C1.1 part of our application, which is evaluating alternatives, which was done at an initial stage in the Q2 and Q4, between Q2 and Q4 of 2023.  But then following the rebasing decision we reran the replacement alternative, while incorporating the energy transition scenarios into our net present value analysis.  So that is why you see evaluating alternatives happening twice.


But to your point, your question, the QRA would be the first two boxes on that screen, between data collection and computations.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  No, that is helpful, and that also matches the six months plus six months equals about a year, so that is very helpful.


So, before that undertaking was started, what scope or objectives were set?  What were you given to say "Here is what we want you to do over the next year"?  Did you get any guidance?  Or you just have to make it up as you went?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I would like to refer you to exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6, please.  And if we could zoom in a tiny bit, please?  Yeah, just scroll up.  Perfect, thank you.


So, following the decision, Enbridge Gas initiated a target integrity program for the SLP, with two main goals.  No. 1 is a safety and reliability-centric goal, which is to determine the operability of the St. Laurent from a safety and reliability perspective in its current condition.


But there was also the need to define any immediate mitigations required, which is what we talked about from an immediate mitigation on a temporary short-term basis, such as vital main designation, daily patrols, et cetera.


And then the second item -- so No. 1 is safety.  The second item is related to the asset management requirements of the St. Laurent system, which is to assess the remaining life alternatives while incorporating safety-reliability economic assessments as part of that.


So, for example, what would be the most optimal outcome to remediate the risk while minimizing the cost of the project?  So that would be using methods like targeted digs, replacing the line fully, partially replacing the line, carrying out in-line inspections on an occasional or frequent basis, et cetera, et cetera.


So when we got the rejection, and that was the denial from the OEB, I mean, I was tasked earlier by our senior management as the lead on the project.  And I could confirm that the direction provided was we are going to approach this from an objective basis.  We are going to park the first application aside, and let the data decide on what next steps are required.


The OEB asked us to collect evidence and use in-line inspection technology to inform our decisions.  That is precisely what we are going to do, and we are going to let the data decide for what the next steps are.


MR. BROPHY:  And that is my understanding of the role of you and your team, is to assess some alternatives from that basis.  And I assume that you are aware that your president, Michele Harradence, stated, following the OEB's last decision, that Enbridge was going to refile another leave to construct for this project.  You are aware of that, of course.  Right?


MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, I am not sure what -- which piece of evidence you are referring to or what IR response you are seeking to clarify.  But perhaps you can assist, rather than just making a statement like that in the air.  So, if you can tie it to an IR, that would be helpful for the witness.  And if there is a particular statement you are asking them to review and respond to, then please pull that up, as well.


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So, as I talked about STAFF-1, it relates to the process used in assessing options.  And I am just asking the panel if they were aware that their senior management had indicated that they would be refiling for the St. Laurent, following the OEB's previous decision.


MR. STERNBERG:  And where is the -- the statement you are referring to from the president, where is that in the response?  Or what statement specifically are you referring to, so that the witnesses can see it and understand what exactly you are asking them about?


MR. BROPHY:  Well, I am asking them if they are aware of that, as an option.  But that was an alternative that was assessed right?


MR. STERNBERG:  Sorry, we are having a difficult -- I am having -- you are getting the interjection because you are saying, you are indicating there was some statement made by the president.  I don't know when it was you are referring to, I don't know what the context was or what the specific statement was.  So if you are -- and you are asking the witnesses now to comment on what you are saying about this statement.


So that is what I am saying, if you want them to respond, please pull up the specific statement so they can see the context, the timing of it and they can then -- they may be able to assist you.


If you are not able to do that, then I have a concern with you asking the question just the way you are seeking to do it, right now.



MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So it sounds like you are suggesting the witnesses are unaware of the statement.  I haven't heard them say that, but I will move on.  It is --


MR. STERNBERG:  Well, we are not -- they haven't said that.  I am interjecting because I don't know -- I mean, there are various statements made, presumably, at different times over the years.  I don't know what specific statement you are asking about.  You haven't indicated a time period or a context or anything.  You have just sort of made this assertion.


So the witnesses are not saying that, but I am explaining why I am interjecting at this point, so that we have a clear record and that it would be an unfairness to the witnesses if you are asking them to comment about some specific statement that was made.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, I am happy to let the witnesses speak or, if you are advising them not to answer, then you can confirm that, and we will move on either way.


MR. STERNBERG:  Well, I won't repeat it; I have indicated my concern.  If you want them to respond to a question about a statement, then please tell us at least what the statement was and when, and we could deal with it by way of undertaking so they can actually go and review the statement and then can respond.


If you want to proceed that way, we can.  If you would prefer to move on to another question, that is up to you.


MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  Well, I am not a witness in this proceeding, so I don't think it is fair for me to be giving evidence.  And I will leave that --


MR. STERNBERG:  No, no, not -- sorry  I am not asking you to give evidence.  I don't know -- anyway.  I thought I was clear, but I will try again:   I don't know what statement you are asking them to respond to.


So if you want to describe what the statement was so that they can then, by way of undertaking, go and review the statement --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.


MR. STERNBERG:  --and give you an answer, we are prepared to proceed that way.  If not --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yeah.  No, that --


MR. STERNBERG:  --if you don't want to proceed that way, that's up to you.


MR. BROPHY:  That is fine.  So why don't we do it that way?  And so, following the OEB's last decision on St. Laurent, is the panel aware of anybody in Enbridge's senior management making the statement that they would -- that Enbridge would be reapplying for the St. Laurent, again, and they are happy to take that away and respond to it in an undertaking, if they wish?


MR. STERNBERG:  Before we consider whether we are prepared to do that, can you give a little more specificity of what statement you are referring to, when it was made and what the context was?  Because you obviously have some statement in mind, but you haven't indicated, given us any particulars about what the statement is you are referring to.  So, if you could do that, it would help us consider whether we are able to provide an undertaking or not.


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Yeah.  There was a variety of occurrences.  I think some actually written statements and others verbal, made publicly, that Enbridge would be reapplying.  But -- and, you now, trying to get approval.


So I don't have all those documents.  We didn't file them.  We didn't think that, you know, you would be objecting to such an easy question.  So --


MR. STERNBERG:  I think, I mean, it's up to you, what questions you ask.  But based on what you have said, if you are not able to tell us, to give us any more particulars about what the statement you are asking about, I don't see how it is a useful line of inquiry that would be of assistance.  So we are not prepared to just give you some blanket undertaking.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you are not prepared to answer that question?


MR. STERNBERG:  Not the way it was framed.  No.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So why don't we go to STAFF-1?  I think we are already on that.  So, in the response to STAFF-1A -- and you don't need to go through it all, but happy to do that if you want -- Enbridge indicated some changes to the proposed project design compared to the design in 2022, and then it also indicated that it is planning to reconnect all the services to the extra-high-pressure steel gas main.  Do you recall that?  Does that sound correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is not completely correct.  We are going to be reconnecting some of the services to the new steel main but not all.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  How did you pick which ones to do and which ones not to do?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  The services that will be reconnected to the new proposed steel main will be the same services that follow the exact same route as the existing St. Laurent pipeline, and, instances where we have had to choose a different route, we will instead be installing plastic polyethylene main and the services would be reconnected to the PE or polyethylene pipeline.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  So do you know how many services, reconnects, would be involved to the XHP pipeline?

MR. MURDOCH:  If you are looking for an exact number, I don't have that exact number at my disposal, but we can certainly undertake to provide that number.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, that would be terrific.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be Undertaking JT2.18.
UNDERTAKING JT2.18:  TO CONFIRM THE NUMBER OF SERVICES OR RECONNECTS WOULD BE INVOLVED IN THE XHP PIPELINE

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  As you mentioned, the other ones are going to be off plastic.  Why wouldn't you look to do the same if you are disconnecting and reconnecting?  Why wouldn't you try to attach all the customers to a lower-pressure pipeline?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I think this might be helpful, if we were to scroll down to attachment 1 and look at a map to assist with this answer.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I am aware of the section where you moved off the pipeline so that it is not possible to do the reconnection.  I understand that.  But, for the portion where you are following the same route, typically a service to an extra-high-pressure pipeline comes with more risk, it is more expensive.  You need a welder.  It is just more complex than, say, a IP service, plastic IP service, so I am just wondering why you wouldn't do that approach for all the services.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  In the instances where we are reconnecting to the steel pipeline, the reason for that is there is no plastic pipeline in the vicinity.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And you have chosen not to put one in parallel to connect those customers.  Correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  STAFF-1, attachment 1 had a map of the existing and proposed pipelines.  I think it was page 1, and there is -- let me just wait until that is up.  STAFF-1, attachment 1, I thought it was page 1, there is a grey hatched section on the map.  I will just see if I can find that here.  Maybe it is on the next, the next page.  If we don't see it, maybe I will come back because the reference may not be correct.

Yes, there was a grey hatched section, and I think you might have talked about that yesterday a little bit, but I wasn't completely sure.  It was the section that indicated that it is complete installed components.  So it would have been a component that was already installed or reinstalled.  I think you were talking about a section that was, I think, 160 metres or whatever yesterday.  I just wanted to validate that that is the same -- there is only that one section that was replaced.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  I think the 160-metre section that you are referring to is the 162-metre replacement that was a result of the EOC repair.  The grey components here, that are shown on the map, are previously installed components from earlier phases of the St. Laurent pipeline project, so they would be from primarily Phase 2 of this project.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, a previous phase.  Okay.  That helps me understand.  I wasn't sure -- components that had been installed before, that is very helpful.  Thank you.

I am going to refer -- this is covered in a few IRs, but one of them is SEC-2, attachment 2, and then you were talking about page 8 of that yesterday, but I can take you to other references, as well, if you would like.

So there have been a number of project alternatives put forward to Enbridge management and the OEB.  You have walked through the capital committee and different processes you went through in Enbridge, and then you put alternatives forward in the application, as well.

So, for example, one of those is the Enbridge management presentation that I just mentioned, SEC attachment 2, page 8.  And you talked about this a little bit yesterday, as well, where one of those alternatives was the aggressive electrification scenario that had the pipeline in use -- I think it was until 2056, and I think you are providing some additional information in that undertaking from yesterday on that.

So, these alternatives, full replacement and the other ones you are doing, are these -- they are all real alternatives or are some of them not real alternatives?

Are you saying they could all be done, or are some of them fictitious?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  We have established alternatives that could plausibly mitigate the risks to a level that could be considered acceptable.  However, as we have indicated, there are a variety of uncertainties that still exist with the EI&R alternative.

Specifically, those uncertainties relate to the residual risks and their tolerability and our ability to bring the system down to the level of risk that is required, given that we don't have information on the remaining 60 percent as well as the ability to maintain that level of risk throughout the useful life of the asset, where we are looking at decades of maintenance.

Where there is also some uncertainties around the feasibility and constructability of that option, we have described that in the feasibility section, how that option does require extensive slabbing, for example, that may be challenging for Enbridge to get permits because of the significant amount of public disruption that slabbing will entail as well as the limited access from other utilities, and then, lastly, the uncertainty on the financials and the outcomes of that option and the ability to be able to exactly say what the costs of that option would be as we are going to be incurring work for multiple decades on that -- in that option.

So, I guess just to summarize, ultimately although that option, as we presented in the alternative section, is plausible there are a lot of uncertainties that exist and they would all have to work out or result favourably for it to end up becoming a feasible alternative.  We have refined, as I mentioned, the alternatives as far as we could in terms of determining the feasibility in terms of risk as far as is practicable for this application.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I am not suggesting any of the alternatives, including full replacement, is an easy project.  They all come with disruption and issues and risks and I understand all that.  But it sounds like you have confirmed they are all real alternatives and I would be surprised if, you know, alternatives were presented to Enbridge execs or the OEB that aren't real.  So, I think you have confirmed that.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  can I just confer with my panelists for a second?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yes.  And I would say in past there have been times where alternatives have been put forward that weren't real, but I think Enbridge executives have pushed back on that in the last decade and only want real alternatives put forward, which is I think what you are -- what you have talked about.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  sorry, Mr. Brophy.  I was conferring so I didn't actually take in any of that.  But, just to clarify one of the statements from the last interaction, you mentioned electrification as an alternative.  That is not presented on this slide and I just wanted to clarify I was not referring to electrification in any of my response.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and that's just -- I understand that is a backdrop of a scenario that you then kind of used for alternatives.  You are not proposing electrification as one of your alternatives, I understand that.  Thank you.

Maybe now is the appropriate time.  I can go into the next line of questioning or we can take the lunch break now.  I am easy either way.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It is about 12:35.  Why don't we take the  break now if you are moving on to another area.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will -- let's take just under an hour.  Let's return at 1:30 and we will continue with Pollution Probe.  Thanks everybody.
--- Recess taken at 12:36 p.m.
--- Resuming at 1:32 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I apologize for the short delay, Mr. Brophy. Please go ahead.

MR. STERNBERG:  Just before we go on to the next question --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. -- sorry.  Mr. Sternberg, you had a preliminary matter?

MR. STERNBERG:  Thanks.  As I indicated, one of the witnesses, Mr. Chebaro, has a brief clarification he would like to provide in respect of one of the responses he gave earlier.  So I would ask him to provide that clarification now.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Good afternoon.  When reviewing the transcript from yesterday, October 30, I noticed that I had indicated that downsizing the 3.4 percent of NPS16 to 12 would result in approximately $1 million in savings.  What I meant to say is that the 2.4 kilometres' downsizing of NPS16 to 12 for the proposed project would result in that saving.  Thanks.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  If there is nothing else, I will jump back in.

MR. STERNBERG:  That is everything, thanks.  You can proceed.

MR. BROPHY:  Perfect.  Okay.  So the next question is in relation to STAFF-11B.  Actually, I think one of the witnesses had brought this up earlier today.  And maybe down towards the bottom of the answer, for B, if you keep going?  Yeah.  Okay.  Yeah.  That is the one, right there.  Thank you.  Okay.

So you will see there, and actually your legal counsel actually brought this up earlier today in, you know, trying to be helpful.  So it indicates there:
"Regardless of the path pursued, Enbridge Gas will not extend the risk reduction time frame beyond the end of 2026."

Do you see that?


MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Can you explain what that means and how December 2026 was picked?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  So, as we indicated earlier, the St. Laurent system is deemed conditionally fit for service until the soonest practical date for permanent mitigation, which stands at 2025-2026 for the various sections or segments that were selected on a risk-prioritized basis.  And we don't have to pull it up, but we have explained that in B1.1, pages 38 and 39.  So this solution, that replacement solution that we have proposed, is practicable from a timing perspective for that indicated timeline, '25-'26, so a deadline of '26.  For that, any other acceptable risk-mitigation solution needs to be as effective or better from a timing percent.

So this would align with the TSSA finding for the need to take action to remain compliant with the applicable code, which is CSA Z662 in case or the code adoption documents in Ontario, and that is also in line with the PO mandate that I mentioned yesterday to Mr. Ladanyi, as professional engineers have a clearly defined duty to society, which is to regard the duty to public welfare as paramount, above their duties to clients or employers.

So, because we have a solution that works for '25-'26, any other exclusion cannot extend beyond that as part of our due diligence as professional engineers.

MR. BROPHY:  So what magically occurs December 31, 2026?  Why is that the deadline?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Again, Mr. Brophy, the mitigation efforts that we have described temporarily reduce the risk as low as practicable in the short term.  They do not eliminate these risks or high risks in the long term.

As I indicated, the fact that a practical solution is possible within that timeline, we need to stick to that timeline.  That is part of our duty to withhold public safety among other things -- uphold, not "withhold," sorry.

MR. BROPHY:  Fair enough.  I was going to ask -- well, we will get into the TSSA references that you mentioned in a minute.  The other basis, I think it was from a discussion with Mr. Ladanyi yesterday, is requirement under the Professional Engineers Act of Ontario.  Those are broad requirements, and there can be disagreement between engineers.  They are supposed to be implementing things in the public interest.

And you would agree that different engineers can have different opinions and different solutions to problems and still working within their licence requirements?

Do you agree with that?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, different engineers can have different opinions on various matters, but I would like to point to the fact that the -- maybe we could pull it up, just for everyone's reference, if we could pull up Exhibit B1.1, page 2, schedule 1, page 2.  Is that the --


MR. BROPHY:  B1.1, page 2, I have it on the screen, yes.

MR. CHEBARO:  Okay.  Attachment 1, sorry -- attachment 2?  I will repeat the reference, please.  Sorry.  Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 2 --


MR. BROPHY:  We don't need to spend a tonne of time.

MR. CHEBARO:  [Audio dropout] --


MR. BROPHY:  I know we are tight for time today.

MR. CHEBARO:  If I can just finish my point, I will be quick.  So, if you scroll down --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. CHEBARO:  -- to the second page and just keep it at that level.  Just scroll up a bit so that we can see the names.  So, just to answer the question, Mr. Brophy, although different professional engineers could arrive at different conclusions, but the QRA that we have conducted has been authored, reviewed, or approved by 11 professional engineers, of whom three of them hold PhDs in engineering, and they were all in agreement that this QRA is accurate and have been comfortable having their names as reviewers, contributors, or approvers of that QRA.

So, yes, different engineers may arrive to different conclusions, but, from my perspective as a professional engineer, if 11 people are reaching the same conclusion, I would put a lot of weight behind that conclusion.

MR. BROPHY:  And I think you can confirm all those 11 engineers are employees of Enbridge; that is why you went to DNV to have a third-party review.  Is that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, so many of those or these engineers work for different business units at Enbridge, mostly at Enbridge Gas, but, a couple of them, we seek their input from the gas transmission side of the business because they also possess a lot of risk expertise.

But, again, I haven't even mentioned the QRA review by DNV or the letter by the TSSA that indicated that action is required by Enbridge.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, why don't we go to that now.  Yes, that is exactly where I was heading.  So the next one is STAFF-12, which relates to the TSSA information you are talking about.  And then the response to STAFF-12 indicates that the TSSA project review completion is still pending.  Is that still the case?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  Yes, that is the case for the review of the design of the project, which is a different TSSA reference than my colleague was making.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, exactly, and I understand the difference, and we are going to talk about that in a minute.  So that is review of the proposed pipeline.  It is still outstanding, and I am assuming you would file that once or if the TSSA completes that review.

The other item that the panel was talking about is Enbridge also provided an application to the TSSA to get their opinion in relation to CSA Z662, and that is the second item.  Correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, on that one, so STAFF-12, attachment 2, page 1 includes -- I am just going to pull it up here, myself.  Okay, terrific.  So if you can move to the attachment -- so it would be attachment 2, page 1.  I believe that is the document that you were referring to, that indicates that Enbridge -- or the TSSA has made certain recommendations to Enbridge.  Is that correct, or is there a different document?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so this is the one.  Great.  And so Enbridge made an application to TSSA, separate from the new pipeline design.  Is a copy of that application -- has that been filed?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Are you referring to the application for consultation to the TSSA?

MR. BROPHY:  Correct.

MR. CHEBARO:  To my knowledge, this has not been filed.  However, in attachment 1, we had included some of the or the correspondence between the TSSA team conducting the review and the Enbridge team.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I recall that correspondence.  So if we can just stay on the other reference there, so can you provide a copy of that application?

MR. STERNBERG:  Why don't we do this.  I know there is correspondence that has been produced and you have seen the letter.  I am not sure if there a standalone document that comprises an application or if it is just part of the correspondence.  So, for what we will do is we'll undertake to see if there is additional documents that haven't been produced which -- or an additional document which is the application, and if so and we are able to provide it we will, and if there isn't a document like that or we are not able to provide it for some reason we will let you know.

MR. BROPHY:  Terrific, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT2.19.
UNDERTAKING JT2.19:  TO LOOK FOR ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS THAT HAVEN'T BEEN PRODUCED, AND FILE IF POSSIBLE; IF OTHERWISE, TO CONFIRM.


MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And you will notice right on the screen in that application there was three documents provided to the TSSA, and I think the second and third one may be on the record already but I don't recall the first one called, "St. Laurent condition fit for service assessment." Do you know -- maybe you can just include that in the same undertaking and if that hadn't been filed then that would be included as well?

MR. STERNBERG:  We can include that as part of the request and, again, if we are in a position to provide that we will.  If for some reason we aren't, we will let you know.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Terrific.  Thank you very much. Okay, some of these items we chatted about already.  I will just make sure we don't miss anything.  So, I didn't see anywhere in the TSSA correspondence indicating that Enbridge was required to replace the pipeline.  It only indicates Enbridge as the pipeline operator identified an issue and is responsible for mitigating those risks.  Do I have that right, or I did I miss some wording where it actually said you were required to replace pipeline?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  as you indicated, Mr. Brophy, the TSSA has reviewed three documents, one of which is the full LTC that has been filed for this application and their conclusion in page -- in STAFF-12, attachment 2, page 2, after making reference to clause 3 of Z662 --


MR. BROPHY:  Maybe we can just go down to that.  It is just the page below, I think.

MR. CHEBARO:  Yes, one page, you got it.  They do say that the risks now need to be properly managed by Enbridge to remain in compliance with the CSA Z662, and then the last sentence is:  "Actions shall be taken by Enbridge to remediate the condition of the St. Laurent pipeline." So, following the review of the full application, which includes the temporary measures that reduce the risk on an as low as practicable basis, on a temporary basis, they still concluded that in order to remain compliant or be compliant with Z662 the risk needed to be managed.  So, to me this is an affirmation, this is supporting the fact that similar to our conclusion in B1.1, which is the needs part of the application, action is required.  Now, the scope of the review of the TSSA as a technical regulator, the TSSA is not a financial regulator, they are a technical regulator.  They are a safety regulator.  The OEB is the financial regulator.  The scope of the review was not to look at the various alternatives because that is a financial optimization exercise.  Their review indicated that the safety needed to be mitigated the risks needed to be lowered and that is the extent of the scope of the review.

MR. BROPHY:  So, I think that is basically my understanding is CSA Z662 is not prescriptive that it requires Enbridge as the pipeline operator to have programs to identify and mitigate issues.  Remediate is the word the TSSA used here and that  assessment of those alternatives would be Enbridge's responsibility and to the -- and as you mentioned to the extent that Enbridge is preferring one alternative versus another if there is an economic impact in that it would need to be brought forward to the economic regulator, the OEB in this case.

But I didn't -- still I didn't see anything that indicates -- I think you have interpreted that they have endorsed the materials you have sent, but I don't see any wording there.  So, I don't want to head into cross-examination territory and debate about that, but I just -- I don't see any words on the page that says that Enbridge should be replacing the pipeline and I think you confirmed that?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I did not confirm that.  What maybe I will restate it in a different way.  The TSSA had access to the full LTC application, and if you scroll up, please to the first page of this attachment, one of the first sub-bullets under the middle pages -- yes, the first sub-bullet under that middle section there it says:  "The crawler in-line inspection, et cetera, 611 anomalies, metal loss features, 138 anomalies, et cetera, et cetera.  So, those kind of statements lead me to indicate that the TSSA has looked at our evidence and did indicate that 60 percent of the pipeline was not inspected.  So, they have looked at our evidence clearly and closely, they mention the 80 percent features among other things.  They have reviewed, because it is included in the evidence, that we have temporary mitigation measures, and they still said action is required.

If those measures were sufficient they would have said -- I mean, I don't want to put words in their mouth -- but the measures were sufficient they would have said keep the measures.  So, the fact that incremental actions are required, that tells me that they are in agreement with our B1.1, conclusion which is:  Action is required.  That is the extent of the risk and safety scope of the application.  Now that is chapter 1.  Chapter 2 is looking at the various alternatives and that the mandate of the OEB, not the mandate of the TSSA.

MR. BROPHY:  And, similarly, I don't want to put words in TSSA's mouth.  Their letter speaks for itself and I don't want to extrapolate beyond what is on the page.  But I agree that the items listed there are issues with the pipeline identified by Enbridge and provided in the material.  I guess we will see in the conditional fitness for assessment document, if we haven't received that yet, what is in there.  And when there is issues identified with the pipeline there has got to be a plan to mitigate that even in the evidence to the OEB there are proposals to mitigate issues as well.  So, I think we have kind of exhausted in crystal balling what TSSA meant in the letter.  We will just have to take it for what it says and bring our own interpretation for that.  Thank you for the comments, though, I appreciate that.  Okay.

So, the next question -- it relates to a few things but one of them is Pollution Probe-4, which then referred us to -- well, it is CC1, table 5.  I am just trying to figure out the best reference for you to go.  You know, what might be the best?  And I gave a heads up to Enbridge about this so I think you are able do it is the STAFF-17 attachment 1, the NPV for case A, the actual Excel spreadsheet that was provided.

So just while we are pulling that up, I recall from the previous assessment of the St. Laurent pipeline, Enbridge estimated the alternative to building the new project at $54 million, NPV.  And I won't walk you through all that; that material is on the record in JT1.8 of the EB-2020-0293 proceeding.

But it struck me that the numbers are quite different that we are going to go into in a minute, from the $54 million, as the alternative.  And I am just wondering, did you or anybody at Enbridge go back to the previous estimate of the NPV, or costs of the alternative to doing the full replacement, and do a comparison to understand why they are so different?  Or did you just throw that out and start with a fresh page?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  No, we started with a fresh evaluation of alternatives.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  That is the way it appeared and that is my understanding.  Thank you.  Okay.  Great.

Okay.  We have got the document up.  So let me just take a look here.  So if you can just confirm?  Like, this is for illustrative purposes.  I know each of the Excel files was kind of a mimic; it would just vary by timeline.  But the one that we have up, STAFF-17, attachment 1, Excel, is versus scenario A estimate.  Can you confirm that?  Or case A, I guess you call it?  Is it case A or scenario A?   Yeah...

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.  This is alternative A, full replacement.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Perfect.  And if I am reading it right, in there, Enbridge is now saying that the inspection and repair cost for case A will cost just under $2.5 billion when you look at the total number in the spreadsheet.  And that is cell E21, I think, if you want to click on it or highlight it.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I just need to confer with my panellists for a second.  I think we might need to correct something on the record.  Just one second.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CLARK:  Brad Clark.  Sorry, just to address the previous question.  We were talking about $54 million; you brought that number up.  And just on the reference from the previous filing, just to be clear, for the record, that is relating to the recovery cost in the event of a damage or emergency situation that resulted in the isolation.  That was not an alternative.  That was just to restore gas service after that issue had been resolved.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.  I may have had the reference mixed up.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Mr. Brophy, do you mind re-asking the previous question?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I am just looking up, I have the Excel open, the STAFF-17, attachment 1.  And it just seems to be different than what is on the screen.  I am just going to verify.  So cell E21 on mine has $2,490,142,000.  Is that what is in yours?  No.  I think the wrong file might be open.  Sorry, it was on the other tab, that's why.  Okay.  Now we are there.  Yeah, that it was on the full replacement.  Okay.

So do you see that the total estimated cost for the inspect and repair is just under $2.5 billion in cell E21?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Just to fully understand the context of the question, can you clarify which case scenario this NPV assessment is relating to?

MR. BROPHY:  So this is the scenario A estimate; I think we just confirmed that.

MR. SAFARI:  Sorry, I mean there are three cases, A, B, and C.  They provide a different number of years that are included in an NPV calculation.

MR. BROPHY:  This is the longest one.  Do you know which one that is, for your reference?

MR. SAFARI:  It is 63 years, I believe.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  So --


MR. SAFARI:  Yeah, because it -- I think it is hidden.  Okay, 63 -- you are perfect.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay.

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, I see the cell you referring to now.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.

And I noticed that the spreadsheet you sent, it doesn't appear to be the live version.  And I don't recall if this is an undertaking you gave, to actually give the live version, yesterday or not.  But, for example, if you click on cell H28, the value is a fixed number rather than a calculated number, which it wouldn't be in the -- which it wouldn't be.  If you click on H28, as an example?  It is an NPV calculation.

MR. SAFARI:  Mr. Brophy, these calculations are completed by our strategic financial evaluations team.  As some of these cells can have extensive calculations that go behind them that cannot simply be derived as a, you know, one-line Excel formula, they might have, you know, entire Excel sheets themselves that help formulate, for example, the CCA tax shield.

We can ask them if they have a different version that has more formulas built in, but I think it would be very difficult to have every calculation that goes into it provided in one Excel sheet.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah.  It would be great if you could do that because, like, this -- well, one of the purposes of this spreadsheet is to calculate the NPV.  And all the NPV calculations are overridden with fixed values.  So if you can see what they have and what they can provide, that would be great.

MR. SAFARI:  Yeah.  I think we can definitely look to provide the formulas related to the present value calculations.  In some of the other, like income tax or other calculations, that might be much more complicated.  But the present value calculations themselves are, I believe, quite straightforward.  So we can try to make sure those formulas are included in the Excel sheets.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Terrific.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Make that JT2.20.
UNDERTAKING JT2.20:  TO PROVIDE THE LIVE VERSION OF EXCEL FORMULAS RELATED TO THE PRESENT VALUE CALCULATIONS

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, very much.

Maybe if we can just go to cell BQ21 as an example?  It is to the right, BQ.  You have to go past the regular alphabet, and then you get into BQ.  There we go, as an example.  Okay.  So that BQ is the row, or column, sorry, for 2086.  If you kind of scroll up, you will be able to see that.

If you can just confirm, you see the information?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, I can see it

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, in 2086, and I will -- you know, there is a lot of other numbers in there as far as inspection and repair costs, but to use this as an example.  So just under a billion dollars, $954,368,000, is your estimate in 2026 of what you would need to spend for your inspection and repair costs against the scenario A.  Am I reading that right?

MR. SAFARI:  Correct.  And the details where those numbers are coming from are provided in attachment 4, which we discussed at length yesterday.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, and I think there was an undertaking to confirm.  I think it is, what, a 6 percent inflation factor and some other math.  Is that --


MR. SAFARI:  Sounds correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  So how do you know that you will have to do almost a billion dollars of repairs in 2086, say, versus 2085 or 2087?

You know, why wouldn't it be a different year?

Why wouldn't it be a different amount, lower or higher, who knows?

I think you had indicated earlier today that these are just estimates and that part of the problem with this is that you are forecasting into the future, in this case more than 60 years from now, so it comes with challenges.  But maybe you can just comment on that.

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, I could provide a little bit of context there.  So, first of all, I know a billion dollars sounds like a lot of money.  It is really important to understand that we are referring right not to costs that would have been incurred 60 years into the future, so the high level that you are seeing is primarily related to the time value of money and the escalation that happens over time.

Actually, we had an example yesterday where I was asked about the stub tool costs that accelerated, I believe, from $190,000 to over a million, and I clarified that that was simply your 3 percent escalation.  When you refer to costs in such long periods from now, sometimes it can seem quite high and exaggerated, but that is just the simple nature of the time value of money.

In terms of the actual work that we are doing, that work was based on an assessment of our planned inspection cycles as well as estimated number of features that we believe we will find and will be required to excavate and remediate.  I think we have already put as part of our evidence -- one of the main reasons we believe that the extensive inspection and repair option will prove to be more costly is that digging and replacing small sections of pipe piece by piece, doing multiple digs along the right-of-way, through time will eventually add up and exceed the cost of the full replacement.

MR. BROPHY:  I understand your point about the time value of money because, normally, money is -- you would rather have a dollar today than a dollar 60 years from now because it would be worth more in the future.  So, typically, that would mean a billion dollars 60 years from now -- you know, I haven't done the math, but it would be, say, $100 million or whatever the number is today.  Is that what you are trying to get at?

MR. SAFARI:  I guess, partly.  I guess what I am referring to is, if you tell someone from 60 years ago that we pay $5 for a coffee today, they probably would think that is an outrageous cost for a coffee, but it is just related to just the time value of money and how much everything costs at that period of time.

MR. BROPHY:  I still agree $5 is too much for coffee, but I digress.  So I think yesterday as well, when you talked about using a discount rate of, I think, 5 percent but an inflation rate of 6, it means that a billion dollars 60 years from now, when you bring it back to today, it is actually a larger number, not a smaller number.  Is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  That is incorrect.

MR. BROPHY:  In real dollars, inflation-adjusted dollars, if you...

MR. SAFARI:  That is incorrect because you are referring to a billion dollars in this case that is already escalated.  If we were referring to the 2024 cost for this planned work in 2024 dollars and comparing that, then it would be correct.  But this cost is already escalated.  If it is discounted, it would naturally be much smaller in an NPV sense.

MR. BROPHY:  But, when you bring things back from 60 years, doing an NPV analysis, you are using the discount rate, correct, to do that?

MR. SAFARI:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  And not the inflation rate.  Correct?

MR. SAFARI:  That is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  So, if you use the discount rate to bring it back to current value and the inflation rate is higher, then it ends up being a larger number when adjusted for inflation.

MR. SAFARI:  Mr. Brophy, I will answer that question, and then just give me a second to confer with my colleagues.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SAFARI:  The reason why I said your original statement was incorrect is I believed you mentioned a larger number than the 1-billion number that is referenced on the screen.

What I was referencing is that it wouldn't be larger; it would be larger than the 2024 cost provided.  Attachment 4 might be a little bit more clear on that because it provides the escalated and unescalated rates.  Let me confer one second.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. SAFARI:  I might have something else to add to that.

Mr. Brophy, just to again correct the record, to make sure -- I may have missed something.

So you mentioned that, if you take the billion dollars and discount it to current day, it is about $100 million.  I believe, if you scroll down just a couple more cells in this spreadsheet -- so there you see the 30.6 -- that would represent the current day NPV for those capital costs.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, so even less.  I was just taking a wild guess.  I hadn't done the calculation.  So it is about 30.6 million in 2024 dollars, is a billion under your scenario in 2086, I think is what you are saying.  Right?

MR. SAFARI:  Exactly, and that goes back to my point about the -- when you are talking about decades, the dollar values could be significantly different.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  No, thank you for that.  Actually, that is very helpful, and, maybe because the cells weren't live, I didn't see that before, so that is very helpful.  Thank you for that.

So I think you might have already talked a little bit about this, but Enbridge --


MR. QUINN:  Sorry, it is Dwayne here.  Are you moving on to something else?

MR. BROPHY:  No, no, still on this subject.  So maybe I can finish off, and then I will let you know before I switch gears.

MR. QUINN:  I just wanted to ask what the discount rate they assumed was to go from 954 down to 30 over a 64-year period.

MR. BROPHY:  They can answer, but I assumed it was the 5 percent, but they can answer that.  If the spreadsheet was live, I would be able to figure it out.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I just did some math on 3 percent, and I come nowhere close.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  So I thought they could answer, please.

MR. SAFARI:  The discount rate that was applied is based on the 2024 weighted average cost of capital, which is 5.75 percent.  And, as I mentioned, that is a favourable value to use for this alternative as it is a higher discount rate than the average 10 years that we have experienced in the last 10 years.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you for your answer.  Sorry, Mike, I just didn't want to go off --


MR. BROPHY:  No problem.

MR. QUINN:  -- the page while it was live.

MR. BROPHY:  It is important information.  So discount 5.75, and I think you said inflation was 6, or did I get that wrong?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am not sure which statement you are referring to with the second part of that.  In my last statement, I said that our previous 10 years' history on the weighted average cost of capital is less than 5.75.

MR. BROPHY:  But you are using 5.75 you said, right, for a discount?

MR. SAFARI:  5.75 for the discount rate, correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  And Enbridge is -- I think you have said this or certainly would agree, Enbridge's integrity program has improved over the last, you know, decade including using better techniques or cost-effective equipment, just overall; would you agree with that statement?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, I think this is a fair statement.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so, I guess it would be fair to expect 10 years from now, or certainly 60 years from now, you know, none of us will be sitting here but whoever is in the integrity department at Enbridge then will have access to even more innovative technologies, techniques and that kind of thing.  Correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, correct.  We would have access to more technology, techniques and more probably refined  modelling, but I do want to point out to example maybe that could bring some value to this conversation.  In-line inspection tools, say, 20 years ago were not capable of identifying what they are identifying today.  So, for example there is a tool called EMAP that we use currently to determine long seen corrosion or SCC type threats on transmission assets in a gas distribution pipeline.  So, that is an enhancement in technology when it comes to in-line inspection, but that enhancement in technology or refinement in analysis does not translate into reduced cost.  In fact, it does point incremental or additional threats to us that we were unable to identify or see through in-line inspections in the past.  So, the advancement of technologies and modelling could result in cost effectiveness in certain situations, but they could also increase your scope because they discover and identify and size things better which, back to the PEO statement, as professional engineers we are obligated now to address those concerns because we are aware of them.  So, it is a very situational statement and it is not always applicable as you had indicated.  Thank you.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And I assume the further you go in time the more uncertain it gets.  I think that has been a common principle, as well.  So, on the spreadsheet, I think it is on the far left.  Actually, if we go to the tab for the replacement project, so we were on the inspect and repair scenario.  So, if we go to -- if you click replacement.  It's hard to see because it is cut off.  The tabs are not visible to me.  Is this -- this is the project.  Yes, okay, yes.  That is the one.  So, in cell J19, which is the 2027 column, there is an amount $14,620,000; do you see that?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  yes, I see that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  What is that for?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my colleagues for a second.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, any capital costs that are associated with the replacement option in 2027 would happen after the project has been placed in service, but is work that is still required to be done.  So, for example, they would be associated with things such as restoration costs.

MR. BROPHY:  You are saying is there would be -- well, I think you gave it as an example but I am not sure if you meant that as the biggest cost in that bucket, but 14.6 million dollars in 2027 related to restoration costs seems like a lot.  I was assuming maybe it was also included decommissioning of existing pipeline and a whole bunch of other stuff.  You know, to be fair, if you want to take it away as an undertaking to let us know what is included in the -- I am happy to do that rather than trying to guess.

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, yes.  We can take that away as an undertaking and you are correct, I was just using restoration as an example of a cost, but there are other factors that are associated with that.  Like you said, we do need to abandon the  existing pipeline as well.  There is also some other costs as well that will be incurred after we get the new assets in service, but we can undertake to provide a breakdown of the 2027 capital-incurred costs.

MR. BROPHY:  Terrific thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  JT20.21(sic).

MR. BROPHY:  2.21, I guess is the -- we are not on day 20 yet, are we?  It seems like it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No, I am sure I said 2.21.  It only feels that way.
UNDERTAKING JT2.21:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 2027 CAPITAL INCURRED COSTS

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Okay, great.  So, while we are on this, this is the tab for the full replacement.  And the NPV and the cost associated in there.  So, okay, I see the capital costs, you know, 24, 25, 26, 27.  You are going to get us the details on what 27 means.  I didn't see all the way over to 2089, to the right, any costs for inspection or repair on the new pipeline and that is way over 60 years from now.  I was just surprised that there is zero dollars estimated for any inspection and repairs on that pipeline for the next -- is that 63 years?  Does that sound right to you?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  in the assessment of the alternatives, we did not include regular operating and maintenance expenses that would happen on, you know, just a regular basis on pipelines in our system.  We were looking for the cost that would be specific to those alternatives.  This alternative with the new pipeline would obviously provide us with an asset that has many years of good integrity.  It is plausible that in 50 or even 40 years we may need to start looking at the integrity of this pipeline in its condition, but it wouldn't be significant like the alternatives that we have been discussing.  And also can I just confer one second with my panelists?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, go ahead.  And I can ask you the next question, too, because you are probably predicting what it is already.  It is linked.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  no, I just wanted to add to that response just for completeness that in this case the pipeline would be a part of the distribution integrity management program and would have, you know, the typical leak surveys, cathodic protection surveys that are, again, consistent across our system.

MR. BROPHY:  So, in the inspect and repair alternatives you have included capital costs related to that but you have excluded those same costs, even if they would be lower for the full replacement project out to 2087.  Or you are accounting for them through some other budget that's not included; is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  the statement that you made is incorrect.  In the extensive inspection and repair option, we have also excluded the regular maintenance that would happen, the regular CP surveys and leak surveys that would be occurring.  We have described the capital cost that would be associated with that type of extensive program, which would require us to identify features and continually make mitigations.

So, from our standpoint, we have tried to exclude essentially the overheads from both scenarios, and focus on the specific work that is required.

MR. BROPHY:  So the full replacement, and we talked about the alignment of it, follows the existing pipeline except for that section we talked about earlier, with the same risks.  But it just seemed odd to me you weren't forecasting any of the same costs related to inspect and mitigation, because this pipeline will be in the same state by 2087, timewise.  It is well over 60 years from now that the current pipeline is in, and it has required inspections.

And while you have highlighted some repairs you have already done, so it just seemed odd to me you are not planning for any of that for the new pipeline.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Just to answer those statements, they are incorrect.  The pipeline that would be installed today using modern construction practices and materials and coatings we expect to be in a much better condition than pipelines that were installed 60 years ago, with the practices and coatings.

But I will take a second and turn it to my colleague, Mr. Chebaro, to also provide some further context.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I also wanted to mention that distribution pipelines typically are not subject to in-line inspection unless, as of recent days, as of this year, 2024, they are part of the enhanced distribution integrity management program.

And even then, we are risk-ranking because there is over 7,000 kilometres in that bucket, so we have to risk-rank those pipelines on a risk basis, and then prioritize which ones would receive additional treatment beyond what is applicable to the DIMP program, like my colleague alluded to earlier.

So, for a pipeline to be installed in 2025 or 2026 based on current standards, current CSA Z662 code, be subject to current cathodic protection and current coating -- we talked about DFBE coating yesterday, and yellow jacket, compared to coal tar, et cetera, et cetera, chances are -- again, I can't just verbally compute things 60 years in the future, but chances are it would probably not be very high risk compared to existing pipelines that are built, let's say, in the 1970s or 1980s, by that time.  Now, it may be, but not very likely.

MR. BROPHY:  And I don't want to put you in a difficult position, but I think there was a discussion yesterday, if we had the people who put this pipeline in ahead of -- or, you know, if we went back in time, they would be saying this the best technology ever.  And it was at the time, I think Enbridge confirmed.  You are saying that is true now, and it is better than what was in place then.  Sixty years from now, there might even be better technology, but I think I take your point.  Okay.

So why don't we move to Pollution Probe-24 and related attachments.  And this is in relation to the DNV work.  And, obviously, we don't have DNV here, and I don't want to have you put words in their mouth, since they did that work.  But I thought I try to ask some questions that Enbridge might be able to ask, there -- or be able to answer, sorry.

So I will just start with an easy one:  So Enbridge provided various materials related to DNV's review of Enbridge's QRA.  And the purpose noted in Enbridge's evidence is to provide us with some confidence in the internal QRA done by Enbridge.  So it is a third party that is not doing its own independent QRA, but reviewing the materials that were provided by Enbridge.  Is that correct, so far?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.  DNV did not recompute risks.  They performed an independent review of the risk and reliability methods and models and conclusions.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is my understanding.

And then if we go -- I am just trying not to go through all the attachments, if we can.  But if we need to, we can.  Maybe if we go to Pollution Probe-24, attachment 3?  That is the DNV proposal that came in.

And then I am assuming -- so the contract is in Pollution -- it is in attachment 4, which then the proposal becomes a schedule 2.  It wasn't replicated in attachment 4, because it was already provided in attachment 3.  Is that -- am I correct, so far?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  You are correct in that the proposal is provided in attachment 3, and the contract is provided in attachment 4.  I am not familiar with the contract, and whether we typically attach the proposals to the contracts.  So I wouldn't be able to say whether there was more to the contract that was excluded for that purpose or not.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Can you maybe just go and confirm that it was attached as a schedule?  Or, if it wasn't and something else was attached instead of that, if you can just provide a copy, that would be great.

MR. SAFARI:  I think we can do that, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT2.22.
UNDERTAKING JT2.22:  TO CONFIRM DNV PROPOSAL WAS ATTACHED TO CONTRACT PROVIDED IN POLLUTION PROBE-24, ATTACHMENT 4

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you, very much.  Okay.  So this is in a few places, so I can take you to any reference in those documents; we just mentioned attachment 3 or 4.

So the DNV contract indicates that DNV was retained February 14, 2023.  So that is at the -- in the top of contract document, which is attachment 4.  Do you want to just confirm that?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, I see that date.  The order date is what you are referring to?

MR. BROPHY:  I think that is the contracting date.  Right?  Is that what that is?

MR. SAFARI:  Subject to check, I believe that is the date of this purchase order.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Terrific.  So, like, the formal engagement of DNV.  Right?  They needed a PO to be able to do that?

MR. SAFARI:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then the DNV proposal indicates that the memo would be delivered by February 10, as draft for review by Enbridge.  And final reports will be delivered by February 17, pending Enbridge's timely review and comment.  Do you agree with that?  That was the timeline that was proposed?

And maybe you can let me know if that was the timeline used, as well.  You know, it is the dates that were in the proposal.  But if you decide it is something different than what the contract and proposal said, then you can let me know as well.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yeah, I think it might be helpful if I can just maybe provide a little bit more detail on the type of engagement and the support and the timelines.

So Enbridge works with DNV to perform independent reviews of risk assessments or perform risk assessments for our integrity and risk teams.  So we often have master services agreements and purchase orders in place.  In this case, the initial request to engage DNV to help with the independent review happened on January 25th.  You can see that in the same attachment, attachment 1, page -- sorry, the same IR, PP-24, attachment 1, page 1 of 1.  And then, through that, there were further discussions to confirm the scope of work.  And, in attachment 3, you can see the proposal that was dated February 6th, 2023.  And then, once we have the proposal in place, we would put out the purchase order, which seems to line up with February 14, 2023.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so the attachment 1, I think, was an e-mail, and so you are saying the e-mail, then, was sufficient to engage DNV.  So, once the e-mail was sent, then they started working on the dates included in the e-mail?

MR. SAFARI:  The e-mail was to engage, I guess start the discussions with DNV on the planned engagement.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. SAFARI:  And the proposal was drafted after that e-mail through discussions on the scope of work, and then we issue a PO once we have the costs and the proposal in hand.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, you know, I doubt DNV started the day they got the initial e-mail, and maybe they didn't wait until the PO was signed to start their work, but they are fairly close together and fairly close to the deadline proposed.  I think it is only like a week or two, maybe two weeks.

Why was it such a tight timeline, given the importance of the work they were doing?

MR. SAFARI:  Let me confer one second with my colleague.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, just to clarify as they are conferring, I am a bit unclear whether you are asking about the dates in the proposal or the way the timeline actually proceeded and how much time they took to do their work.  I would think the latter is more useful and relevant.  I am unclear if that is what you are asking about, but, if it is, we may need to deal with that by way of undertaking because I think the panel is conferring on answering your question as based on the original proposal.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  If you can assist us in what you are looking for --


MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. STERNBERG:  -- then we can go from --


MR. BROPHY:  We have just been following, actually, the evidence Enbridge provided, which is dates on e-mails and contracts and proposals.  So I agree, and, if it varied from that in reality, then I also understand that, and I am trying not to delve into territory that should be DNV's questions, stick with Enbridge.  But let's see what they have to say after conferring, and I am happy to do what makes sense.

MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  If we could pull up exhibit I.1, PP-24, attachment 5, page 2, perhaps that would add some clarity.  At the bottom of page 2, it shows the draft for review and the couple of drafts and then the final product, and it shows the dates for each.  So, yes, the work engagement started in February, but then the final draft was or the final report was issued in May 2023.

So, just to your comment, though, on why did we expedite that review, well, the reason is simple in my opinion.  We had the QRA that indicated that we had high risks on the pipeline, so I think the right thing to do is to expedite the review to ensure that we are not sitting on that high risk unnecessarily and we are taking the proper actions to mitigate it going forward.

So we wanted to double check that our methodologies and our work were adequate, and, once that was done, the QRA was finalized, and that led to the subsequent steps of the SLP program.

MR. BROPHY:  And maybe we can stay on this page.  That would be great.  So, yes, I understand DNV is reviewing materials you sent.  By that point, Enbridge had already completed its assessment and shared certain materials, so Enbridge was, at least in your mind, aware of certain actions and I think even taking some of those actions while they did review.  It just seemed like a tight timeline, particularly given that the final product wasn't really done until months later, in May.  And I know that is outside the contract that you signed with them.  Maybe there were reasons for not holding them to the timelines in the contract.  But I get your point on that.

So, actually, on that page, so it looks like they hit the first deadline per the contract, of getting you their work in draft by February 10th.  Right?

That is what this shows in attachment 5, Pollution Probe-24, attachment 5.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And then there were reviews by Enbridge, feedback to DNV, and revisions, so that is one, two, three sets shown on the page, of revisions.  And was that just done verbally, or did you provide written feedback to DNV in order for them to make those revisions shown on the screen?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  We had meetings with DNV, where they shared some of their preliminary findings and we provided feedback.  Some of those findings were related to not having details, for example, of the manufacturing model used, so some of our correspondence back was providing some of those details from other documents that were maybe a little more holistic, as we described this morning.

There was also some feedback on some of the methods that we used in the QRA, where they had some suggestions to maybe model it slightly differently, some of which we did incorporate into the risk report.  So you can see there is a bit of an overlap between where DNV's review started and when we finalized the risk report, and that was because we wanted to make sure we integrated any feedback that they had from their risk experts into our assessments.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, so it sounds like you got three versions of the report and then the final, and, for each version you received, you either met with DNV in person or online, discussed the draft, and then they made the changes based on those discussions; there wasn't anything written sent back to them.  Is that what you are confirming?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  If I may point you to PP-24, attachment 6, page 2 of 3, again this is an example of a written set of comments that were provided from Enbridge to DNV; so, again, PP-24, attachment 6 --


MR. BROPHY:  I see that.

MR. CHEBARO:  -- page 2.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.

MR. CHEBARO:  And, if you scroll to the bottom of the page, those are the type of comments that the integrity and risk team provided to DNV, for example, DNV to rename "Integrity Assessment Report" to "Integrity Actions Report"; DNV to separate the integrity actions and risk review into two reports; et cetera, et cetera.

So, as you can see, the comments provided, there is a reference to -- if you go to the second page -- to original information, "Enbridge to review appropriateness of this reference."  DNV called something high, high risk, very high.  We said call it high, very high, because that was a typo.

The nature of the comments provided were very high level, and I would call it maybe administrative, at best.  There was no, as far as I am aware, any technical direction or things of that nature.  However, they did provide to us, as Miaad indicated, a set of technical recommendations when it came to our QRA and that was incorporated in our final version of the QRA to make sure that there was alignment between their review and our final product.

MR. BROPHY:  And I understand why it might be beneficial to Enbridge to discuss the report in person or online versus given written edits but I think what you are saying is exhibit -- so Pollution Probe-24, attachment 6, is all the written comments you provided back to DNV in relation to the report drafts.  Is that what you are saying, or everything else was verbal?

MR. CHEBARO:  Subject to check, I believe this is the written information between the integrity team and the DNV team.  But as I indicated, there were many -- there were several discussions that took place verbally.  But as this attachment indicates, there were some that took place over e-mail as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I am fine with that, subject to check, if you find there is additional written feedback I am sure that you would provide that and -- but you are saying this is all in writing unless you find out otherwise, so I am happy with that.  Thank you.

So, if we just go back to Pollution Probe-24, attachment 5, page 2, which is where Enbridge panel had taken us a minute ago on the versions, page 2.  It must be down towards the bottom a bit.  There, perfect.  Okay.  So, at the bottom of the page is the version control, if you just go down a bit, too.  Maybe the panel can just confirm when you see it?  I know it has been jumping around on the screen.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes.  The revisions are revision numbers and version controls on the bottom of the page.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I don't want you to provide all sorts of extra paperwork, because that means I have to look at it.  But can you provide the February 10th, 2023 draft report, so the first one you received?

MR. STERNBERG:  Sure, I don't know if you want to assist us with what you say the relevance would be, especially since you have got the written comments and you have heard the explanation from the witness.  So, if you want to indicate what you think the relevance would be, otherwise we will consider your request, and if we are prepared to provide it and agree it is relevant, we will and if not we will advise you of that.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  So, you know, we could probably spend a few hours talking through each meeting and each version and the online or in person discussions that, you know, were had that we just went over but I don't think that is value added, so by providing the February 10th, 2023 draft it would just give an indication on kind of the difference between the initial assessment that DNV did and the final one, without spending those hours going through.  So, I am happy to have you take that away as you mentioned.

MR. STERNBERG:  You have got the final version.  You have already heard the explanation of the witness, so it strikes me that it is not relevant, but to move things along right now we will take the request back and if we are not prepared to provide the report we will indicate that and advise you as to -- or the draft rather.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Sternberg, you are giving that as an undertaking then; right?

MR. STERNBERG:  Yes, we will undertake to consider the request and respond accordingly.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Great.  So, we will make that JT2.23.
UNDERTAKING JT2.23:  TO CONSIDER WHETHER TO FILE THE DRAFT REPORT; AND IF NOT PREPARED TO FILE THE DRAFT REPORT, TO RESPOND ACCORDINGLY.

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I am just double checking.  I had skipped a bunch of questions that I am not intending to go to here.  Just making sure I didn't miss anything on the list here.  But I am getting to the end.  The end is close.

Okay.  Actually I just have three very quick questions that should be -- they should be pretty simple.  So, does Enbridge charge for a cutoff at main request from a customer currently, and if so do you know what the charge is?

MR. STERNBERG:  Mr. Brophy, I see the witnesses are pausing.  The assistance with -- first of all, what interrogatory response you seeking to clarify that may assist.  And also I am not sure if you can indicate why you think that is relevant.  It doesn't strike me as being relevant to matters at issue in the application.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I just wanted to give a heads up before we are asked if there was questions in relation to the Integral matters that we could provide today, or in the Enbridge panel, then to do that and, to the extent that they can't do that, then we take the additional questions to Integral.  So, this is in relation to those interrogatories.

MR. STERNBERG:  I am not sure how that is -- off the top of my head how that is relevant to the Integral analysis and report.  But if you think it is perhaps you could ask that of Integral when you ask your questions of them.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, this is an Enbridge policy.  I guess Enbridge is the one that would decide.  My understanding is that Enbridge was going to propose to remove the cutoff at main charge, but in the 2024 rebasing application, but then I am not sure if it actually did.  So, if the panel knows then maybe they can just clarify?

MR. KITCHEN:  It is Mark Kitchen.  We do not charge for cutoff at main.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And that was the recent change then in the most recent rebasing application?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it was part of harmonizing those types of costs or those types of charges.  EGD did have a cut off at main charge but legacy Union did not and we moved to go to no charge.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  No, that is terrific.  And just a final question, which is I think fairly easy.  So, anybody can answer but I think Aron Murdoch probably would be the one just to give a head up.  So, at the beginning when the panel was introduced in relation to why you are here and speaking to the evidence, I think you indicated that your role is technical manager integrity regulatory strategy; is that correct?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, yes, that is correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And so, does that -- is that a regulatory role or an integrity role?  What is the focus of it?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, this is an integrity role.

MR. BROPHY:  Integrity, okay.  So, it is in the integrity group looking at influencing regulatory issues related to integrity; does that sound right?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, I am the technical manager within the regulatory strategy component of our integrity department.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And regulatory strategy then would be impacting regulatory issues using strategy I am assuming; right?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, I would be working on files such as the St. Laurent project that require regulatory application.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Okay.  Terrific.  Thank you very much.  I promised that was an easy question and it was.  I think that concludes Pollution Probe's questions.  I do want to thank the panel.  I know how much work it is preparing for these conferences and I really appreciate the answers.  Thank you very much.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  It is just coming up on 3:05.  And we are sort of on track with the schedule here for OEB Staff scheduled to start at 3:05.  What I would like to do instead though is take our afternoon break now, 15 minutes.  We may be able to cut down on a few of our questions given some of the areas that Mr. Brophy raised with the Enbridge panel.  So, if nobody minds, let's take 15 minutes now and we will be back at 3:20.
--- Recess taken at 3:03 p.m..
--- Resuming at 3:23 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.  I am going to start by introducing my colleague, Zora Crnojacki, from Board Staff.  She will be asking just a few questions, and then will be moving on with some others.
Examination by Ms. Crnojacki


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you, Jamie.  Good afternoon.  I now have a few questions on behalf of the OEB Staff that kind of build on the questions that Pollution Probe asked about the TSSA's review/reviews of the St. Laurent project.

The first, I will start with a few questions on TSSA's engineering review of fitness for service.  The reference is interrogatory response 12, by the OEB Staff.

So, by way of a little bit of repetition, I will just note that Enbridge, in response to the STAFF-interrogatory 12, filed a copy of the TSSA's letter, with TSSA's conclusions on fitness for service, engineering consultation regarding the St. Laurent pipeline compliance with the CSA Z662-19, oil and gas pipeline system code.

The TSSA reviewed three documents, three main reports submitted by Enbridge Gas.  The first one is St. Laurent conditional fitness for service assessment.  And I believe we will receive a copy of that on the record, by the way of undertaking.

The second document is Enbridge Gas integrity plan document entitled, "NPS12/16, St. Laurent pipeline integrity plan."  And the third one is the application and evidence on EB-2024-0200.  This is the application we currently have before the OEB.

So my first question would be if there are any other reports and documents that Enbridge Gas provided to the TSSA in relation to the St. Laurent replacement project fitness for service assessment, in addition to these three?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  No other documents that I am aware of.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.

The second question is whether Enbridge has as a normal practice a request to TSSA for assessment of fitness for service for Enbridge's integrity management projects?  Is this something that you can give, by an example, of some other projects that were also subject to the similar engineering consultation by the TSSA regarding the fitness for service integrity assessment, in addition to the St. Laurent project that we have before us?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Maybe I will start by stating briefly that the TSSA's mandate is to enhance public safety in Ontario by providing for the efficient and flexible administration of technical standards.  So, based on that, we asked the TSSA to review our evidence for compliance with the CSA Z662 oil and gas pipeline system codes, being obviously the technical regulator in Ontario.

So the TSSA was involved in this case, since this file carries many firsts, and Enbridge felt it was prudent to obtain their technical review and position regarding code compliance.

Now, in terms of your question on whether they have been involved previously, I can mention one example, but I am not sure if there were others.  But I am aware of one example, and that is the hydrogen blending assessment that took place in the City of Markham, just north of Toronto.  The TSSA's input was obtained for that project at that time, which I believe was three years, or two or three years ago, based on my recollection.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  Maybe you can look at the other -- the projects that are assessed, or for the similar fitness for service criteria as the St. Laurent project?  Because I assume that hydrogen blending criteria for assessing the safety of operation of the hydrogen blending project would be not the same as for the St. Laurent project assessment by the TSSA.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I could perhaps provide some context on that.  At the time I was working in the engineering department at Enbridge and I was part of that study, the hydrogen blending engineering assessment did include the evaluation of risk and safety for a distribution piping system in Markham, for the introduction of hydrogen at the certain percentage.

So there were many I would say similarities when it comes to fitness for service assessments, risk assessments, and several engineering evaluations conducted as part of that application.  So there were many similarities, as I indicated.

Now, in terms of whether we have other programs like the St. Laurent and other projects like the St. Laurent, as I mentioned, I am not aware of any.  But if it would be helpful, we could perhaps look and see if there were previous ones.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Maybe that could be an undertaking.

MR. STERNBERG:  I am not sure what amount of work that involves or what time period can be looked at in the amount of time that we have to answer undertakings.  So why don't we take that back, and Enbridge will see what scope of review it is able to do, and it will provide a response it is able to, within the undertaking time frame.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  We have of this undertaking --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry -- 

MS. CRNOJACKI:  -- at the best-effort basis?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Mr. Sternberg.  That will be JT2.24.
UNDERTAKING JT2.24:  TO REPORT IF IT HAD REQUESTED A TSSA ASSESSMENT OF FITNESS FOR SERVICE FOR OTHER INTEGRITY MANAGEMENT PROJECTS

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  The next question is if, in Enbridge Gas's opinion, the risk reduction level of the option B, that is extensive inspection and repair, all to satisfy the TSSA's remediation expectation.  I would just refer back to the TSSA letter, where it is -- and I quote, noted that -- just a moment...

Well, I will just paraphrase; we are all aware of what is in the letter.  Maybe you could -- I don't know if you have it on the screen.  It is a reference?  Yes.

So I was referring to the conclusion of this letter, where the TSSA concluded -- if you could go further down to the end of the letter, of:

"Steps would be taken by Enbridge to remediate the condition of the St. Laurent pipeline."

So this concept of remediation certainly has some criteria to it, of how it is defined.  And the question I asked was if, in Enbridge Gas's opinion, the risk reduction level of the option B would satisfy the TSSA's remediation expectation?  And if not, why not?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  The simplest answer to that is yes.  The TSSA has asked us to mitigate the risks, and it is Enbridge's duty to do that in an appropriate manner.

I just want to clarify that we have provided two alternatives in the evidence, but only the full-replacement option provides the necessary certainty in getting the necessary level of risk reduction as well as certainty in the feasibility.

As I described previously, the EI&R, the extensive inspection and repair option, could conceivably meet those risk thresholds if all the various uncertainties and feasibility and risk that I mentioned previously result favourably.  So our position is, yes, we have assigned and evaluated both alternatives.

If we are trying to make a binary statement of whether they are both feasible with certainty, we believe that there is only one alternative, full replacement, that provides a certain result of the risk mitigation and the feasibility.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  So I would take it that this is Enbridge's interpretation of TSSA's remediation expectation and that there is no direct recommendation by the TSSA as of whether a full replacement or extensive inspection and repair is preferable or is to be undertaken.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  I indicated that earlier today, that the TSSA reviewed our evidence for compliance with the CSA Z662 standard.  We did not ask them or we did not request that they review the various alternatives from a financial perspective because that would fall beyond their scope of work as a technical regulator.  That would be within the OEB's scope of work.

So, the extent, the box we drew around the TSSA review was action required based on the evidence, the QRA, the integrity assessments conducted, and I think they clearly answered that yes by stating that the risks now need to be properly managed by Enbridge to remain in compliance with CSA Z662.  So, by stating that actions shall be taken by Enbridge to remediate the condition of the St. Laurent pipeline, I don't want to speak for the TSSA, but I don't believe they are alluding to either option; they are just saying, "You have got to take action, based on what you have demonstrated and shown us for the three documents that we have reviewed."

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  And, the next sub topic, that has to do with the TSSA's review of the design for the proposed replacement pipeline, and it is again in reference to Enbridge Gas' response to interrogatory 12.

As of today, TSSA has not provided the review or completed a review and provided conclusions on Enbridge's application for approval of the design of the replacement pipeline.  So Enbridge noted in the interrogatory response that the construction is planned to start in second quarter of 2025 and that Enbridge believes that the TSSA's approval of the pipeline design will be granted by that time.

Do you have any updates on that at this point, on the status of the TSSA review of the design application for the replacement pipeline?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  No, there is no update in addition to what we provided as part of our response to STAFF-12B.  The TSSA approval has still not yet been received, and we are expecting it to be received prior to our anticipated construction start date of Q2 2025.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you very much.  These are all my questions.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Just before I turn it over to Mr. Al-Dojayli, I expect it is Mr. Chebaro who is going to answer this question, but I do have a follow-up question.

Mr. Chebaro, you said that you didn't request a review of the alternatives by the TSSA from a financial perspective.  I just want to confirm:  You didn't give them any alternatives for review from a safety perspective, either, did you?

My assumption or my understanding is that this is the project that you gave them to look at.  Is that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Yes, the ask was to review the documents provided for compliance with Z662.  Now, the documents provided did include the full LTC, which included other portions beyond B1.1.  So the C1.1 section was included, which is the alternative section, but the scope of the review was:  Is the work, are the conclusions, is the work that is proposed, the actions proposed by Enbridge, are these in compliance; would those actions keep us in compliance with CSA Z662?

So they had access to the alternatives, but the scope of their review was the compliance piece with the applicable codes in Ontario.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  As proposed, which is the replacement project?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  No.  The ask was:  Upon reviewing the three documents, the St. Laurent conditional fitness for service assessment, the integrity plan and the OEB file EB-2024-0200, with the plans provided by Enbridge, does this submission, those three submissions, maintain compliance with respect to CSA Z662?

And, based on their response, what was mentioned was that, for us to remain in compliance with CSA Z662, based on the quantitative work that we have done, including the QRA, they are convinced that the risks need to be properly mitigated and that therefore action is required.

But that is not to say that they assessed the replacement versus the EI&R option.  That is to say that, based on the risks that we have highlighted and the risks that we have computed and assessed and that we vetted with DNV, are you in agreement that action is required to maintain compliance with code?  And they said:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that was the extent of their statement:  You need to do something?

MR. CHEBARO:  Correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks.  Sorry to interrupt that way.  I wasn't really planning on asking questions, but I will turn you over to Mr. Al-Dojayli now.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Hello.  This is Maher Al-Dojayli.  I am a consultant working to support OEB specifically focused on structural integrity.  So I have, there are a few -- actually, a number of questions were already answered by the panel from yesterday's and today's session, so that is great.

So let me ask first on the TSSA -- sorry, CSA Z662, as a code, whether it is appropriate for the use of annex O.  So.  When I look at annex O, although I think it is also mentioned by Mr. Quinn yesterday, the annex O it says it is not mandatory and for information.  However, it says in the code I know that the code was requested today have a copy but I think Enbridge mentioned that it is available online, so I am just reading from it.

So, it is says that it is not mandatory and informative unless -- let me just read exactly.  Yes, unless the part is being designed in accordance with provisions of clause 4.1.8 or assessed in accordance with the provisions of clause 3.4.  So, those clauses, the 4.1.8, is talking about hydrogen plants with which I think Enbridge did mention that maybe in future there would be a plan to use hydrogen blends, but more importantly was 3.4, which is engineering assessment.  And under that clause is the code saying that you need to have rigorous assessments.  And since fitness for service is not well defined in many codes, and that is the suggestion to use annex O, which provides kind of a probabilistic assessment to it.  So, I would -- my question to Enbridge is you understand that is correct, that the annex O is the appropriate one, although it is not mandatory?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, before going to annex O, maybe I will point to a couple of clauses from Z662 that are applicable which could explain why we ended up reverting to annex O as a method to evaluate risk and compare risk targets.  So, clause 10.3.2.1, from Z662 integrity of existing pipeline systems, states that, "where the operating company becomes aware of conditions that can lead to failures in its pipeline system, it shall conduct an engineering assessment to determine which portions can be susceptible to failures and whether such portions are suitable for continued service."  Now, I will point to another clause that is equally important, clause 3.1.2.  It says that, "the safety and loss management system which is required in clause 3.1.1 shall cover the life cycle of the pipeline system and shall include the following elements:  One, risk management.  Two, operations and maintenance.  Three, pipeline system integrity management.  And four, integrity assessment."  It is not prescriptive in terms of what risk management criteria or element the company needs to use, so this is up to the company to define its own integrity management program and risk management program.  So, to answer your question, yes, we did use a recommended practice.  Annex O is an RP.  It is not a mandatory annex.  But we used it for three reasons.  One is, as I mentioned earlier today, due to an absence of specific reliability targets for distribution pipelines in Canada.  So, if I can't use annex O, what other targets can I use that would be acceptable by the industry?  The other reason we used it despite the fact that the St. Laurent pipeline is not a transmission asset is because annex O was derived based on a variety of pipelines, including pipelines that operate in the 20 to 30 percent SMYS, specified minimum yield strength, range, that are also beyond 30 percent.  So, the fact that the St. Laurent pipeline operates between 20 and 30 we felt that it would be adequate to apply annex O.

And then the third point I would point to is that annex O was not used in isolation in the QRA.  So, we recognize it is an RP, meaning recommended practice, I guess.  But it wasn't used in isolation.  It was supplemented by two other lenses.  One being the FMSIA distribution pipeline significant incidents benchmark.  And then two is Enbridge's operational risk assessment matrix that we call O-R-A-M.  And the risks on the St. Laurent pipeline fail all three criteria.

So, we are failing the average by a significant amount when it comes to the FMSIA database.  We are, I believe it is mentioned in exhibit B1.1, page 334, that we are 2500 times higher than average when it comes to the failure rate.  And then we are also failing the Enbridge ORAM which is an Enbridge-wide measure of risk acceptance used to support risk informed decision making.  

So, we are failing the health and safety and we are also failing the financial and we are also failing the operational disruption risks which are all ranked as high and very high.  Based on that, just that alone the company, the  corporate Enbridge, requires us to take action to mitigate those high risks and very high risks.  So, we are not using annex O in isolation.  We are supplementing it with other lenses as well.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Yes, no.  I am in agreement.  I just wanted to mention that, although it is informative, it is appropriate to use with other tools, so I am in agreement.  I just want to clarify that for the record, though.

The other question is related to exhibit I1-SEC-6 if you don't mind.  And this is regarding the -- I think it is mentioned here the Charpy analysis.  I saw the reports by Enbridge and did some testing and found that the Charpy for the vintage piping you have is extremely low.  How are you compared with what is expected, which is 100 joules, and what not, but you didn't define what is the minimum acceptable by the code, the Z662 code.  So, I am not sure do you have what is the minimum number?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I don't know the exact number off the top of my head.  I know Mr. Ladanyi mentioned 20 joules and we can confirm that.  I will say that typically when we do our risk assessments we use a conservative assumption of Charpy for our vintage pipelines and that conservative assumption is 15 joules.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Sure.  Okay.

MR. SAFARI:  I'm just providing a separate comparable.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  I mean, I did check the code for that size pipe is, I think, it is minimum of 26 or 28 joule assuming it is a category 2.  But it would be good to define that at least for the record, if that is okay?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  yes.  I think we can take that as an undertaking and make sure we provide that.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Thank you.  Now, with that in mind --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Maher, just bear with me for a minute.  That would be undertaking JT2.25.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT2.25:

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Thank you.  So, with that in-line, and that is I think it is a major concern in addition for me, in addition to the corrosion, which you did mention a lot about it is when -- when the toughness is extremely low it has two aspects.  One is -- I know that you used that.  You used the effect of the toughness on third party damage, basically to have the risk for rupture but also be for small leakage or large leakage.  For example, you had a case where you have kind of a series of a local thing, one beside each other, which can cause a small to large leak.  And, with low toughness this might cause, and especially with local thinning, more than 80 percent that you indicated, do you think that will cause an issue with low toughness, that it can move from leak risk to -- a small leak risk to a rupture risk?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, low toughness can definitely make any type of small burst turn into a large-scale rupture event.  One thing that we have noted as part of our risk assessment is that we have assessed the risks, you know, using industry acceptable methodologies.  Sometimes those industry acceptable methodologies are unable to capture exactly what you are saying, some of those outlier situations that can occur, and are exaggerated by these other conditions, like low toughness.

So, in our risk assessment, we haven't considered that scenario.  We have assumed that corrosion would fail through means of a small leak, but you are absolutely correct that, if you have the right alignment of features, axially, around the pipeline, a rupture can still occur.  And we have seen instances of rupture on pipelines operating at these stresses.

I would also say that there are some uncertainties around interaction of features.  One of the concerns with this pipeline is that we have concerns with corrosion.  We have leak and damage and gouges on the pipeline.  We have dents, we have fabrication defects.  All of these threats are considered highly susceptible, and we have evaluated all of them individually.

But the interaction of those defects can also present other situations, where the failure rates can accelerate in certain situations.  And again, it is very hard to model, so I don't think we have -- we have modelled it, and toughness does make a difference.

But one of the reasons why we didn't explore those avenues further was because the results of the QRA were already definitive, so there was no need to try to make sure we were accounting for these outlier situations.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  No, that is fair.  But I would put it differently, then.  Do you think that if we want to be conservative, or on the very safe side, you think that your probability risk, actually, if we considered these things, would go higher?  Is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Correct.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  Another item that is also related to the toughness is for repair.  So, if we currently go to -- give me a second.  My apologies.  I mean, I know that lots of things have been answered; that is why I am just going selective.  Okay.

So if we go to exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, page 27, table 5.  Okay.  So I can see that in terms of repair, you did some -- sorry, Enbridge did some, for example, containment sleeves and whatnot.  But there are also some sections of the pipe were replaced.

So my question is if -- and the option B is selected, which is extended life with extensive monitoring and corrosion monitoring and inspection, do you think that, with such a low toughness and you go and do welding -- for example, if you have a corrosion and you have to do a repair, whether it is on a weld or a pipe section, do you think with low toughness you will add more risk to the pipe because of the high residual stresses from welding?  If that happened in the winter, the low toughness would create micro-cracks and more issues.

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  You are correct.  Welding on a pipeline of this vintage and this type of toughness, under 10 joules, could introduce incremental risk.  And I will add to that as well that pipelines of this vintage, oftentimes speaking with operational crews, finding spots where they could weld on that are lamination free or defects free when they are trying to weld sleeves or performing cutouts, it poses a challenge in and of itself because sometimes you have such a high frequency of laminations or other features, that you can't find a landing spot to weld on, which makes the repair even more risky or more complex.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  And has this been, I mean, factored in, in the cost of repair for option B, for the extended life?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  No, it hasn't been factored in.  We talk about some of the other considerations with the alternatives.  So, as we have laid out in C1.1, we have looked at the alternatives from five different lenses.

Under the other considerations, we do discuss higher operational risks that are very difficult to compute, as you have mentioned one of them.  There is also operational risks with health and safety of workers, with the continued excavation in busy roadways.  Those are discussed more qualitatively, but they are discussed in the evidence under the other considerations of the alternatives.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  So I would expect then, if that continues -- I mean, the cost might go higher, let's say, within the first 10 years or something like, that you -- than what you have estimated?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I think that is a fair statement.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  If we can go to exhibit 1-PP-6, attachment 1, page 11, and specifically table 6.  Okay.  I think also mentioned somewhere else, and I forgot where, but I will mention it, then.

So the CP protection was -- or the cathodic protection was used to try to mitigate the corrosion, to get at corrosion.  However, it was found -- I think it is somewhere here, I think, maybe correct me -- it was found that is -- that you have to increase the voltage.  As you have seen in certain areas, it is not -- it is still not very effective.  Is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes.  As a result of some of the work done in the targeted inspection, as targeted integrity program, we did change some of the settings on the rectifiers providing CP protection.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  In terms of cathodic protection, this is one type of a corrosion.  There are -- has Enbridge done any studies on the corrosion mechanisms, whether it is just general corrosion or microbiology corrosion and whatnot?

My point here is:  Is the cathodic protection by itself enough to mitigate any future metal loss?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I am just going to confer with my colleague.

To answer your question, cathodic protection alone is not the only factor in influencing corrosion.  In terms of other assessments of other types of corrosion, we do have quite a bit of experience in our Integrity group, which evaluates the integrity of pipelines across our system.  From our experience, we haven't seen any instances of microbial corrosion on our pipelines, to the best of my knowledge.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Now, just a follow-up on the increase in the cathodic protection voltage, do you think that increasing the value of the cathodic protection will induce more susceptibility to hydrogen embrittlement, especially that you have -- and, obviously, you have low toughness, as well, so do you think that will make things worse?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, we have -- so the answer to that question is:  Yes.  There is a correlation between the susceptibility to hydrogen embrittlement and the level of cathodic protection.  Specifically, some of our more recent engineering assessments have shown that hydrogen overprotection can escalate that threat mechanism.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.

MR. SAFARI:  Cathodic overprotection.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Yes, yes.  So then, I have a follow-up two questions.  One is in terms of -- let's assume that the option A is selected, which is the pipe replacement.  What do you think is a reasonable time that would require to replace the pipe?

I know it was mentioned 2026.  Is that the timeline that you have in mind?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  We have designed our construction schedule to mimic the prioritization of risk, so there are two years of construction, '25 and '26, starting with the higher risk segments in 2025 and then completing the project by end of 2026, assuming we get the approval to do so.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  So I know that it was mentioned by -- give me a second.  In terms of immediate actions, what do you think it is -- I know it was mentioned today in the call or I think a response to Mr. Brophy, a few items to mitigate the third-party damage, which is mostly about awareness and whatnot, but also I think I read somewhere that also you can use or have used slabs in certain areas to mitigate third-party damage.

But, in addition to that, knowing that there is high risk from low toughness plus the corrosion might continue despite that you have cathodic protection or is there cathodic protection, what is your immediate risk mitigation from now to 2026 or to for the pipe replacement to be completed, in addition to the use of slabs as well as the awareness for the third-party damage?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Just to clarify the record, we are not planning on installing slabs as part of the full-replacement option.  We do have the temporary risk mitigations that we have put into place to take all practical measures to reduce the third-party damage risk.

In addition to that, if we were to have approval to proceed with the full replacement, we would be getting permits to do construction in the area, which would significantly limit other people from doing construction in that area; we would have a significant presence daily around that location.

So we have not required any additional risk-mitigation actions, other than the temporary ones that we have in place as part of the full replacement, because we believe that the construction, that the replacement, will entail -- in itself will also provide some indirect mitigation of the third-party damage risks.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Yes, but the -- so, for the record, what I meant by using slabs is as a temporary solution until you have the pipe replaced, just to -- but I think you answered, you clarified that.

My main question is that all the suggested immediate mitigations are only concerned with third-party damage -- that is all -- which is only a portion of it.  I know it is related to rupture, but, nevertheless, you have a small leakage or potential of small leakages as well as we just mentioned that there is also a risk -- we can't quantify that, how much is that, but -- that the small leakage also can grow to large leakage or it is already there and it may cause cracks.

So my question is related to the corrosion portion, from now to two years, is there -- first of all, do you think that the pipe is, from integrity point of view, safe, and, if not, what would be the mitigation?  Are you going to inspect the full pipe and -- because whenever you went and did some digs, you did repair, so that is my question, is:  From now to until you replace the pipe, is pressure reduction is an option, or maybe you have a different, any different, solutions?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  So maybe I will start with your last point.  Since the corrosion threat would translate into a leak consequence, a 20 percent or approximately 20 percent pressure reduction would not mitigate that threat.  If the threat that is predicted from a corrosion perspective were to be a rupture, then a 20 percent pressure reduction would help, but, in this case, it wouldn't.

As I indicated earlier, I mean part of the reason we identified that pipeline as a need for replacement a couple of years back were precisely for some of the reasons you have articulated.  

But, currently, as a company, we believe the SLP is deemed conditionally fit for service until the soonest practicable date, which is end of '25, end of '26.  We have implemented those five measures that you have mentioned in order to reduce the, or temporarily reduce, the risk as low as practicable to a fit for service level in the short term and you are correct those measures are targeted at third party damage type features.

We also have implemented a twice a year leak survey campaign on this slide in order to supplement any potential leakage that could happen that would have gone undetected, which is higher than the average of distribution piping.  But that is precisely why we have been expeditiously trying to pursue this replacement based on the QRA assessment.  So, the line is conditionally safe or fit for service today based on those measures but immediate action is needed and that immediate action needs to start ASAP, and that is why we are looking forward to being able to start those actions in '25 and conclude them in '26 in order to remediate that risk.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Well, that's fair.  Okay.  My next question would be -- my next question would be on inspection.  So, in terms of inspections, the ILI is being used.  The document is -- if we go to exhibit I.1-STAFF-3.  A question on first on the NPS16 line.  Is there a reason why there is no inspection data for NPS16; is that because of the of the yield?  Most of the data was on NPS12.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  yes.  For the inspections we chose to some inspect various areas of the vintage pipeline.  The NPS16 is newer pipe.

MR. CHEBARO:  And I will add to that as well, Mohamed Chebaro, that the NPS16 is roughly 3 percent of the line.  So, not only it is new, it is a small portion of the line as well.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  In terms of the inspection, the in-line inspection, and I mean, obviously, you did mention that, that technology is improving and -- however, there are lot of indication where -- especially the concerning ones, is that the 80 percent metal loss and higher.  Does Enbridge have any thoughts about using other tools for inspections to provide better estimates of the metal loss?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, so --


MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  To be used in the future.

MR. CHEBARO:  Sure.  Mr. Al-Dojayli, the integrity management program at Enbridge employees a variety of in-line inspection tools, so I could name a few but maybe I will mention a few here.  We use deformation type tools to be able to detect any dents in the line.  We use magnetic flux leakage tools that are oriented in the axial or circumferential directions to be able to detect general corrosion or longitudinal or selective type corrosion.  We also use other tools such as the eMAC technology, the -- which aims at detecting crack-like features, if you will, like SCC, in a gas distribution pipeline without the need for a couplant.  So, we use a variety of tools, some are tethered, some are free-swimming technology, some are crawler technology in order to comprehensively collect data on our assets and make the proper decisions when it comes to remediating them, whether it is maintaining them replacing them et cetera.  Now specifically for St. Laurent, the tool available at the time was the MFLA technology.  My understanding, based on my discussion with vendors, is that since then there has been some improved developments on the MFLC technology for crawlers, I don't believe we have ran them yet at Enbridge Gas from a crawler perspective, to the best of my knowledge, but we did not run it on St. Laurent, because the vendor that ran the MFLA, I don't believe their tool, the MFLC, their technology, their setup, was ready at the time in 2022.  So, you are correct to point to the fact that I think this is mentioned in the evidence, and it was incorporated in the QRA as well, that we recognize and acknowledge the axial orientation of this MFL sensors that the technology has limitation generally being unable to identify and size axially oriented features, such as corrosion preferential to the seam or SSWC, for example.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  And what is your opinion about, for example, other methods or techniques like eddy current or ultrasonic?  Have -- maybe you can consider in the future?

CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, so we are employing the eddy current technology, for example, on one of our transmission assets next year.  Ultrasonics in gas distribution assets, again, EMAC is the equivalent.  It induces that magnetism to create a signal that is ultrasonic by nature in the wall thickness, without requiring a couplant.  But ultrasonics would not work on a gas distribution line due to the lack of couplant to transfer the ultrasound from the sensor to the feature and back.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  My other question is related to the inspection locations.  I know that you did mention that.  The  selected locations for the in-line inspection was selected based on cathodic protection readings and others like location, population and what not.

Just I have another one question.  One of the criteria, as well, is the stresses in the pipes.  Have you considered -- well let me ask one question before.  What was the main or driving load in these pipes?  Is it mainly pressure or there are other loadings like seismic loadings or, for example, the pipe going under the rails or highways and what not?  So, is there other loadings that could control the minimum thickness of the criteria of the pipe?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro, our assessments were based on the hoop stress resulting from the pressure.  Now, the pipeline could be subject to bending stresses in crossing locations or other locations.  But our assessment was focused on the hoop stress drive.  Now, in terms of the selection of the in-line inspection locations and the segmentation that we talked about, the like in kind methodology, if you will.

The two key factors that influenced our selection were the CP performance and the coating type on the line.  But then other factors included, as I mentioned earlier, the vintage and also the environment that the pipe is in.  And that determined the segmentation that was subjected to the in-line inspection in order to collect the data from the ILI and project it to the rest of the pipeline, so the 40 percent to be extrapolated to the remaining 60 percent with a fairly high level of confidence as indicated in the previous response.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  So, if I understood correctly, that means that there are areas of the pipeline that may have higher stresses on the pipe.  Obviously, there is the factor of obviously the depth of the pipe.  So, if the pipe, it was designed properly, with the proper depth, maybe the loads from let's say highways will be way lower than in different areas.

But if the main criteria for minimum thickness requirement is based on pressure, then there might be a risk that was not considered is that at certain areas you have higher stresses than others, am I correct, due to the other loadings?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  That is correct.  And that is precisely one of the arguments we made earlier, that mitigating that depth of cover risk through the installation of a new pipeline by meeting current code requirements would alleviate this concern.

Currently this line, as mentioned earlier is, I believe, 66 years old in some of its portions.  So the behaviour of stresses on the pipeline based on such a vintage installation would be extremely difficult to model.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I just wanted to add one thing to that, I guess, the line of discussion right now.  When we talk about the options, both the full replacement and the EI&R option, and we discuss the residual risks, and have we provided that in C1.1, attachment 1, you can see that when we describe the residual risks related to the EI&R option, we do describe that there is a bound of uncertainty around those residual risks.

If we can go, just down a little bit more to the plot, the risk plot, which is a little bit easier to understand?  So -- just, sorry, a little bit higher.  I think we had it there, the one with the colours.  There we go.

So you can see that we do consider the fact that maintaining our pipelines at a risk limit, although it is, you know, an assumption that we have made as part of the development of this, the design of this alternative will always yield some uncertainty.

You have mentioned a few of the factors that can come into play and cause a failure that you may not have expected as part of your risk models, which is again why -- and we described this in the C1.1 evidence under the lens of residual risks, we believe that the most appropriate option is the alternative that is practicable, but provides the most amount of risk reduction.

So if you scroll down to the scenario A, the same plot, if we keep going down, of what it would look like with a full replacement?

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Yes.  No, I appreciate --


MR. SAFARI:  Yeah.  So...

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. SAFARI:  The main point I am making here is that a new pipe would give us not only the best risk reduction, but put us in a very safe zone, where these outlier events are also avoided, these events that are very difficult to model.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  You know -- yeah.  No, I appreciate it.  The intent of my question, what I wanted to reach, is that -- and I kind of understand, anyone can do analysis.  And if you find that the -- a certain element, or the pipe itself is failing for basic loading, correct? - there is no need to go elaborate much more and spend time to do a fancy analysis to consider all the other loads, knowing that, for the basic load, it is failing.

My point of raising these questions are -- is to say that it is likely that the probability risk, if we consider all these factors, it is likely it would be higher?

MR. SAFARI:  Yeah, you are absolutely correct.  And I am in agreement with your assessment of why, in some areas, the risk assessment did not, you know, further refine into some of these more nuanced situations.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  And I think, just to respond to also one question which was mentioned by Mr. Brophy:  In terms that you have mentioned that, if you do a pipe replacement that, in 30 years or 60 years, the repair would be less, I think you are going to use anyways a thicker pipe and a much higher toughness.  Correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  That is correct.  The toughness you would expect to use would be 100 joules, and we are currently at less than 10 joules in terms of the wall thickness.  The wall thickness that we would use on the NPS12 and 16 would be 8.4 millimetre and 9.53 millimetre, respectively.  And, currently, the 12-inch portion is at 6.35 millimetre.  So it would go from 6.35 to 8.4, and the toughness would go from under 10 to 100 joules.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  The other question I have is can we kindly go to -- can we go to exhibit 1-STAFF-6?  There is a table, I think, in the responses; yes, yes, this one.  So this is the EGI distribution steel pipeline repair.  And I saw that for example, under the anomaly type, the metal-loss corrosion, the repair criteria is metal loss greater than 20 percent of the wall thickness, regardless of length of repair required.

So my question is did you use this criteria for your repair?  Is that the case, or no?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  This repair criteria is an engineering standard that has been in place for several years.  And yes, it has been used for repair.  Not dig, but for repair, on the St. Laurent.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  And I would assume that we -- I guess we know that 20 percent of metal loss is not a failed thickness.  Correct?  But still, it is best practice, for Enbridge, is to use that.  Is that correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Just to kind of qualify this criteria, so this is a repair criteria.  Once the pipeline is exposed and field non-destructive examination data is obtained, and folks are in the ditch, and then they are examining the pipe, they are right there?  So we are not talking about an in-line inspection, 20 percent feature reported.  This is confirmed, 20 percent metal loss or 10 percent or whatever the number is.

The best practice you are referring to I think is, since we are at that location with that confirmed depth and length of feature we would address it because that pipeline has already been exposed.

So we have taken some mitigation action because we can't just backfill and then let that feature grow.  This way, we mitigate that feature on a permanent basis and then we don't have to worry about it in the future, which is the financially prudent and the safety prudent thing to do in the long term.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  And this percentage of metal loss as a repair when you dig has been reflected or factored in the cost of repair for option B, which is the extended life.  Is that correct?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  Yes, that is correct.  We have considered whether the excavations would result in permanent mitigations or small cut-out or replacements.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  The other question I have is, since you -- I mean since from the cathodic protection data, which would indicate that there is an active corrosion, so let's assume that you have a reading that says, okay, there is an active corrosion in this area, and the cathodic, sorry, the cathodic -- I mean the voltage reading, and you apply the cathodic protection, but there are a few things.  One is, yes, it indicates there is an active corrosion in that area, but it doesn't indicate how much corrosion you have.  Correct?  That is number 1.

And the second thing is you cannot guarantee that the cathodic protection is working until you have the second reading after, let's say, two years or whatever -- I don't know is the duration; I think you mentioned twice in a year -- but to have few readings to be able to know whether it stopped or not.  Correct?

MR. CHEBARO:  Mohamed Chebaro.  Cathodic protection is an indirect measure or indirect indication of corrosion, and, as discussed earlier, it is a transient measure, so meaning I could take the reading at 10:00 a.m. and then half an hour later it may rain or something may happen in the vicinity, the temperature may go up or down or whatever, and then that cathodic protection extent could change.

And that is also applicable to any stray currents from other utilities or installation in the vicinity of that pipeline.  So, when we collect that data point, it is valid for that point in time and it is not an indication of a constant, as some people may think.

In terms of your point, yes, I mean you could have adequate cathodic protection in the reading and then come back a couple of years later and then realize that the corrosion is still growing.  So cathodic protection does not eliminate corrosion, but it attempts to manage it and minimize its growth.  Yes, that would be my answer.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  Okay.  So I am in agreement with that, and that will lead to my other question:  For option B, which is the extended life, how did you determine the frequency of the inspection and digs?

I think you did, it was mentioned somewhere, seven digs in a year or something like that, especially that you don't know what is the projection of the future metal loss?

MR. SAFARI:  Miaad Safari.  I just need one second.

Sorry for that.  So there is no Canadian code requirement for TIMP or distribution assets that establishes a reinspection interval for inspections in Canada.  However, a seven-year reinspection interval is typical in the industry, especially in the U.S., where the federal regulator requires a maximum of seven years as the reinspection interval for transmission pipelines.

We have already described that we use that as a little bit of a comparable here because SLP would be considered a transmission pipeline if operated in the U.S.  So that is how we establish the reinspection intervals.

At a high level, the amount of excavations that were required, that we expect to have based on every subsequent reinspection, was in the second inspection campaign determined based on information from the current inspection campaign.  So we took the features that existed, and we projected them out and determined how many would likely meet the risk criteria to require reinspection.

Past that, we felt it was inappropriate to really project current conditions or current features on the pipeline, you know, 30, 40, 50 years into the future, so we did some trending based on our transmission integrity program, where we do have subsequent campaigns of inspection, and we determined a trend that we expected to see in terms of the necessary number of digs, and we applied that trend for every subsequent reinspection campaign.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  I think I just maybe have one more question, or maybe I have finished.  One second.  I think that is all the questions I have.

It is just one comment on the last point that you made in terms of trends.  Since it is a single data point in time that you have basically in terms of thickness, the issue is in order to -- the main point is that we don't know when that corrosion happens.  It may -- if we take the average over six years, that definitely would not be conservative.  It may happen in the last five years or 10 years.  We don't know.  Yes?

And, if there is no study about the corrosion, which is fine because it is a difficulty, at least there should be that the future or the trend should use, should have some kind of a safety factor because, as I said, using the average value from the past is definitely not conservative.  Would you agree on that?

My main point of this is to guide that you might require more repair because the current way of projecting the metal loss and extent of the metal loss if it is linear is not conservative.  Would you agree?

MR. SAFARI:  Yes, I agree with that statement.  Miaad Safari.

MR. AL-DOJAYLI:  That is all what I have.  Thank you.  Mr. Sidlofsky?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Mr. Al-Dojayli.  Just a brief couple of questions from Ms. Plummer, and I think that will finish our questions for the afternoon.

MS. PLUMMER:  Thank you, Jamie.  So my questions cover land matter and the proposed route.  So, in Exhibit D, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9 of this application, Enbridge Gas noted that it is looking at site options for replacing the Rockcliffe control station and that the exact route of the pipeline at Rockcliffe park is subject to change.  OEB STAFF-21 and 22 sought details on the site selection process and any potential changes to the proposed route.

In its interrogatory response to OEB STAFF-21A to C, Enbridge Gas noted that there is a potential option for the new Rockcliffe control station and that the site is currently being assessed.  And, in its interrogatory response to OEB STAFF-22B, Enbridge Gas stated that the exact route for the pipeline through Rockcliffe Park as has not yet been established.

So could Enbridge Gas provide the timeline for the completion of the site-selection process for the relocation of the Rockcliffe control station?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch.  We could do that on a best-efforts basis.  We are working with the NCC on a lot of these different aspects for the Rockcliffe station in particular, so it is hard to pinpoint an exact timeframe.  But on a best-efforts basis we can give an estimate as part of that undertaking.

MS. PLUMMER:  Okay.  And I guess just as a follow-up to that, does that mean that the exact route right now through Rockcliffe park has not been established?

MR. MURDOCH:  Sorry, could you repeat?  That I didn't hear that.

MS. PLUMMER:  So, does that mean that the exact route through Rockcliffe park has not been established?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, the exact route through Rockcliffe park, we do have a route that we have identified within our application and then any alternatives that would consider any potential new station location that is currently under consideration have been roughly determined.  Essentially, we would be going up Hillsdale Road, up to Sir George-Étienne Cartier Parkway, at which point that would be the delineation point between this current project for St. Laurent project and any future pipeline installation would then be part of the Rockcliffe station project, and would be funded through that particular program.  The reason why we are choosing that particular delineation point is because that would be an equivalent pipe length for this existing pipeline up to the existing Rockcliffe control station.

MS. PLUMMER:  Okay.  And based off that answer, would you be able to confirm right now that the proposed route hasn't changed?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, as of right now, the proposed route has not changed, but there are alternatives that are being considered and will need to be finalized.

MS. PLUMMER:  Okay.  That's the end my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Murdoch, I think you had offered an undertaking just a couple of minutes ago; correct?  Just before Ms. Plummer asked her a follow-up question.  Could you just -- would you mind just describing that for the purpose of the transcript?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, the undertaking that I have proposed to take involves providing, on a best estimates basis, the timeline of which we would be able to finalize our Rockcliffe -- our Rockcliffe route and Rockcliffe station location.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, that was on a best-efforts basis; right?

MR. MURDOCH:  And that was on a best-efforts basis.  And I should state as well, I mentioned the NCC just for clarity that is the National Capital Commission.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  That will be Undertaking JT2.26.
UNDERTAKING JT2.26:  TO PROVIDE, ON A BEST-ESTIMATES BASIS, THE TIMELINE FOR THE ROCKCLIFFE ROUTE AND ROCKCLIFFE STATION LOCATION.


MS. CRNOJACKI:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I just have a follow-up  question very brief on the route that is being considered.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Go ahead.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Alternatively, how long is that segment of the route that is still subject to assessment of alternatives depending on the outcomes of your negotiations?

MR. MURDOCH:  Aron Murdoch, I believe it is 560 metres, 5-6-0.

MS. CRNOJACKI:  Thank you.  That is all.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  With no other follow-up matters I believe that concludes today's session.  I will remind, well, mainly Enbridge, but the parties that, under Procedural Order No. 2, Enbridge is to file complete written responses to all undertakings from this week's session of the technical conference by November 14th.  File and serve on all intervenors.  And with that, I will thank our court reporter and we are concluded.  Yes?

MR. STERNBERG:  Perhaps just before we go off the record should I address -- I know I sent an e-mail, but perhaps I should address the timing point for the next panel, pursuant to procedural order 3?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.  I saw somebody know -- I wasn't completely sure it was finalized, but go ahead.

MR. STERNBERG:  I think -- I think the parties have agreement amongst the parties will be asking questions, and we confirm that we have a colleague for OEB Staff that this works for, and I think the agreement is to proceed with the Posterity and Integral panel on the afternoon of November 13th starting at 1:30 p.m.  So, subject to the OEB's approval, that is the proposed timing for that panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  And Mr. Sternberg you will be sending something into the Board on that, will you?

MR. STERNBERG:  Well, that is what I was wondering.  I have indicated on the record, yes, if it is useful for us to send a letter in as well we can do that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Even an e-mail message would help and we'll just -- one or the other, we will just put that on the record.

MR. STERNBERG:  Okay.  Sure we can send a follow-up confirming that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Thanks very much.

MR. STERNBERG:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So, with that anything else?  Hearing nothing, hearing nothing, I will shut down this session.  Thank you very much to everybody for attending.
--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 4:49 p.m.
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